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A. Executive Summary: 

1.  Sector and Regulatory Assessment: Financial institutions including commercial 

banks in Bhutan are regulated by the Royal Monetary Authority (RMA). Financial Services Act 

2011, Rules and Regulations for Establishment of Commercial Banks in Bhutan 2018, Pru-

dential Regulation 2017 and Macro-Prudential Rules and Regulations 2018 are the governing 

regulations for commercial bank. Minimum paid up capital requirement for commercial bank is 

Nu. 600 Million. 

Currently, there are 5 (five) banks, 1 (one) CSI bank, 3 (three) non-bank institutions and 6 (six) 

MFIs licensed and regulated by the RMA. As of September 2019, these institutions collectively 

have 1,266 access points (i) 171 branches (ii) 70 extension counters (iii) 248 ATM and (iv) 779 

POS machines, 777,304 saving accounts, 131,707 loan accounts and 90,866 insurance poli-

cies. 

Assessment of BDB: Bhutan Development Bank (BDB), the implementing agency for the 

proposed project, was incorporated by the Royal Charter, in January 1988, with assistance 

from the Asian Development Bank (ADB) to function as a development financial institution. 

BDB is registered as a company under the Companies Act (2000) and licensed under the 

Financial Institutions Act 1992 and functions as a domestic development bank with cheque 

facilities after obtaining its banking license in March, 2010.  Royal Government of Bhutan owns 

96.61% shares of BDB and remaining shares are held by (i) Bank of Bhutan (2.12%) (ii) Royal 

Insurance Corporation (0.85%) and (iii) Bhutan National Bank (0.42%). 

Primary mandate of BDB is to provide banking services to the rural farmers. BDB provides 

seasonal, agriculture and business loans to the needy farmers. It had also commenced cor-

porate/ industrial lending operations providing term and working capital finance for industrial 

and agro-based enterprises. 

2. Governance: Financial statements and management reports of BDB are approved by 

the shareholders in the annual general meeting. The BoD is primarily responsible for policy 

formulation, approval of annual budget and strategic guidance. In addition to the BoD, (i) audit 

committee (ii) credit committee (iii) risk management committee headed by the non-executive 

directors are actively engaged and governed by respective terms of reference, as mandated 

by the RMA’s directives. 

 

BDB has adequately staffed independent internal audit department headed by the general 

manager which reports directly to the audit committee. The audit committee approves internal 

audit plans and programs. The head office, all the branches and major clients, on sampling 

basis are audited at least once in a year. The audit committee reviews audit reports on quar-

terly basis, recommends the BoD as appropriate and directs the management for corrective 

actions. 

 

An external auditor, appointed by the RAA conducts external audit and reports to shareholders 

in the AGM. The remuneration and ToR of the external auditor is also fixed by the RAA. Ex-

ternal auditor conducts its audit in accordance with Bhutanese Auditing Standards and Inter-

national Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 

 

3. Corporate and Financial Management Overview: BDB has one corporate office lo-

cated at Thimphu, 3 (three) regional office, 35 (thirty five) branch offices across Bhutan. As of 

FY 2019, BDB had 646 staffs.  

BDB provides wide ranges of banking services to clientele (i) deposit products including sav-

ing, fixed and recurring (ii) remittance and (iii) credit facilities. 
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The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Bhutan Financial Reporting Stand-

ards (BFRS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). BDB has duly approved 

chart of accounts and also ensures demarcation between authorization, execution and record-

ing of the transactions. General ledgers, subsidiary ledgers and bank accounts are reconciled 

monthly. Variations on the actual and budgeted expenditures are tracked on quarterly basis.  

Variations require prior approval from the board of directors. In addition, for any new project, 

BDB maintains separate books of accounts and registers, and prepares annual financial state-

ments comprising (i) comprehensive income statement, (ii) statements of cash flow, (iii) state-

ment of financial position, and (iv) notes to the accounts.  

 

4. Financial Performance Overview: BDB’s existing financial performance is not satis-

factory. Capital injection and business process reengineering may help BDB to improve finan-

cial performance. But, portfolio quality is a serious concern which should be managed with 

structured interventions on (i) NPL management including write off and (ii) credit process in-

cluding credit appraisal and risk management practices.  Key financial indicators are summa-

rized in the following table: 

Table 1: Key Financial Indicators 

Particulars FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 
Net worth (Nu Million) 3,334.81 2,305.21 2,621.48 2,733.67 
Total Gross Loan (Nu Million) 16,546.66 18,498.52 18,613.00 19,655.71 
Total Deposit (Nu. Million) 18,029.40 20,548.70 21,012.63 21,637.13 
Capital adequacy 16.60% 10.40% 12.5% 11.56% 
Gross Loan to Deposit Ratio 91.78% 90.02% 88.58% 90.84% 
Non-Performing Loan 12.47% 22.72% 20.73% 23.16% 
Coverage Ratio 65.18% 48.53% 49.01% 47.34% 
ROAE 9.27% (33.27%)1 9.06% 7.74% 
ROAA 1.42% (3.95%) 0.88% 0.50% 
Net Interest Margin 5.54% 3.02% 3.17% 4.76% 
Operational self sufficiency 1.16 0.72 1.12 1.04 
 
Total borrowers 56,195 57,368 54,436 52,962 
Total depositors 159,576 178,386 203,018 223,884 
Female borrowers  26,704 21,925 21,669 

 

BDB Market Share: BDB moderate market share. As of September 2019, BDB’s market 

shares in loans and deposits in the banking sector constituted 17.94% and 15.63% respec-

tively.2 

However, BDB has impressive market share in agriculture sector financing. As of September 

2019, banking sector collectively financed Nu. 6,326.96 million to agriculture and animal hus-

bandry sector. BDB finance Nu. 5984.10 million with impressive 94.58% market share.3 

Projected financial indicators: BDB projected financial statements are detailed in financial 

projections section.  Table 2 summarize key performance indicators with sensitivity analysis. 

 

 
1 BDB incurred huge impairment charge in 2017 which caused decline in RoAE and ROAA. 
2 RMA disclosure of respective financial institutions as of September 2019. Bank of Bhutan led the market share  in 

loans and deposits with 38.40% and 35.88% followed by Bhutan National Bank with 28.05%, 22.15%, Druk PNB 
8.63% and 10.85% and remaining by T bank. 
3 Financial sector performance report as of September 2019 
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Table 2: Key Projected Operational and Financial Indicators 

 

Sr. 
no Indicators FY2020 FY2021 FY2022  FY2023 FY2024 

1 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 10.41% 10.61% 10.88% 12.87% 12.72% 

2 Portfolio at Risk (%)           

2.1 NPL (%) 37% 25% 22% 20% 19% 

2.2 NPL Loans disbursed after 1/1/2020 6.00% 8.00% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 

3 ROAA (%) -2.67% 0.54% 0.67% 1.03% 1.10% 

4 ROAE (%) -29.31% 7.00% 8.55% 12.75% 12.93% 

 5 Net interest margin (NIM) 3.24% 2.64% 3.29% 3.20% 3.47% 

6 Operational Self Sufficiency 76.37% 110.23% 112.65% 121.05% 122.72% 

7 Gross Outstanding Loan (Nu million) 19,750 20,741 21,889 23,208 24,722 

8 Gross Loan Growth 4.00% 5.02% 5.54% 6.03% 6.52% 

9 Total Deposit (Nu million) 22,719 24,082 25,647 27,443 29,501 

10 Deposit Growth Rate 5.00% 6.00% 6.50% 7.00% 7.50% 

11 Outreach (active loan accounts) 
          
53,377  

         
57,613  

         
62,540  

         
66,310  

        
70,634  

12 Women outreach (active women loan accounts) 
          
21,351  

         
25,926  

         
31,270  

         
33,155  

        
35,317  

13 Active group based lending accounts 
            
2,663  

           
3,196  

           
3,655  

           
4,232  

          
4,996  

14 Active women group based lending accounts 
            
1,625  

           
1,982  

           
2,303  

           
2,708  

          
3,247  

15 
Cumulative disbursement of group based lend-
ing (Nu. million) 

          
399.50  

         
479.40  

         
584.87  

         
719.39  

        
899.23  

16 
Cumulative disbursement of group based lend-
ing to women (Nu. million) 

          
243.70  

         
297.23  

         
368.47  

         
460.41  

        
584.50  

17 
Outstanding CSI Loan including group loan in 
(Nu. million) 

     
12,442.26  

    
13,481.48  

    
14,665.52  

    
16,013.78  

   
17,305.29  

18 CSI active loan account including group loan 
          
52,060  

         
54,238  

         
57,283  

         
60,728  

        
63,714  

19 CSI women loan outstanding (Nu. million) 
       
3,110.57  

      
4,044.44  

      
5,132.93  

      
6,405.51  

     
7,787.38  

20 CSI active women loan account 
          
20,824  

         
24,407  

         
28,642  

         
30,364  

        
31,857  

 

 
 
Table 2.1: Sensitivity Analysis  
 
Assuming Capital Injection in Two Instalments ( USD 7.5 million in December 2020 and USD 7.5 million 

December 2023: 

 
 If, NPL in loan disbursed after 1/1/2020 
 increase to 18% in FY 2024 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022  FY2023 FY 2024 

Capital Adequacy Ratio 
10.41% 
 

10.55% 
 

10.44% 
 

11.98% 
 

11.24% 
 

NPL 
37% 
 

25.43% 
 

25.04% 
 

25.38% 
 

27.13% 
 

ROAA 
-2.67% 
 

0.50% 
 

0.40% 
 

0.66% 
 

0.55% 
 

ROAE  

-
29.31% 
 

6.51% 
 

5.17% 
 

8.67% 
 

7.19% 
 

 
 If, NPL in loan disbursed after 1/1/2020 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022  FY2023 FY 2024  
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 increase to 25% in FY 2024 and NIM 
 decreases to 3% 

Capital Adequacy Ratio  
10.19% 
 

10.33% 
 

10.04% 
 

11.48% 
 

10.50% 
 

NPL  
37.00% 
 

25.43% 
 

25.04% 
 

25.38% 
 

27.13% 
 

ROAA  
-2.91% 
 

0.50% 
 

0.21% 
 

0.55% 
 

0.28% 
 

ROAE  
-32.26% 
 

6.66% 
 

2.79% 
 

7.65% 
 

3.93% 
 

  
5. Experience of Donor Funded Program: In the past, BDB implemented limited donor 

funded programs (i) Bio Gas Project  from 2011 to 2017, Grant: 1,374,527.27 (USD) (ii) On-

going  Ha Organic Farming Project  from 2014, Grant: 11,795,654.49 (Nu). 

 

6. Key Findings, Risks Analysis and  Mitigation Approaches: 

Table 3: Key Findings, Risk Analysis and Mitigation Approaches 

Risk Description Rating Risk Mitigation Measures Responsibility 

Limited Experience in Donor 
Funded Programme: 

a. As an Implementing Agency 
(IA), BDB has limited experi-
ence in donor funded program 
management, which may un-
dermine the project implemen-
tation.  

Moderate a. Capacity enhancement of 
PIU through TA. 
 
b. Trainings to PIU staffs on 
ADB’s guideline and procedures for 
reporting, disbursements and pro-
gram implementation. 

ADB/BDB 

Composition of Board of Directors: 
a. Corporate Governance Rules 

and Regulations 2018 issued 
by RMA states, the board of di-
rectors shall have “a range of 
knowledge and experience in 
relevant areas including but not 
limited to business, manage-
ment, corporate governance, 
risk management, financial 
analysis, financial reporting, in-
formation technology, regula-
tions and strategic planning”.  
 

b. Current board of directors 
have limited experience in 
banking. 

Moderate a. Appropriate strategy to form the 
board of directors in compliance 
with the RMA regulations and 
requisite skills of board of direc-
tors. 

 

BDB 

Credit Review Unit (CRU):  
a. As per RMA’s 4.2.2 Prudential 
Regulations 2017, each financial in-
stitution shall establish a Credit Re-
view Unit (CRU) as a specialized in-
ternal body for monitoring and as-
sessing of credit exposures. 
 
b. The structure and powers of 
the CRU, as well as the regular Credit 
Committee, shall be specified in the 

High a. Establish CRU as per the re-
quirement of the RMA. 

BDB 
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credit manual and procedures. Per-
sons directly responsible for the ex-
tension of the credits and for main-
taining relations with borrowers shall 
not be eligible for participation in 
CRU. 
c. Currently, BDB doesn’t have 
CRU. 

Financial Management Practices: 
a. BDB follows Bhutanese Ac-
counting Standards /Bhutan Financial 
Reporting Standards (BAS/BFRS) 
and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) to prepare finance 
statement. 
b. BDB does not have (i) ac-
counting policy or manual and (ii) fi-
nancial management manual or pro-
cedures.  
 
c. Routine financial management 
is governed by the office order issued 
on 10 February 2010 and 26 April 
2010. In addition, BDB has duly ap-
proved “delegation of financial pow-
ers” which primarily specify procure-
ment authority. 

 
d. Finance department has ade-
quate staffs headed by the general 
manager. But, current staffs do not 
have experience on ADB’s guideline 
and procedures. 

 
 
Moderate 

 
a. Preparation of accounting 
policy or manual in compliance with 
BAS/BFRS and IRFS 
 
b. Preparation of administrative 
or financial management manual/ 
procedures to enhance financial dis-
cipline are strongly recommended as 
delegation of financial powers/ office 
order issued on referred dates may 
not be prudent and comprehensive to 
impart financial discipline as referred 
documents do not describe detailed 
procedures. 

 
c. Capacity enhancement of ac-
count and finance staffs through 
trainings on ADB’s process and pro-
cedures. 

BDB 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADB/BDB 

Weak Internal Control Mechanism: 
In absence strong internal control and 
compliance framework, external audi-
tor has raised issues in the auditor’s 
report. In FY 2016, external auditor 
reported as following: 
a. Internal control of the bank relating 

to credit management need to be 
strengthen as on review of reports 
of internal audit department, it was 
observed that: 

 
a.i. Embezzlements amounting 
to Nu. 3,950,024 were re-
ported in 6 cases during the 
year. 
 

           a.ii. Unauthorized sanctions     
and disbursements in case of 
52 borrowers, 142 accounts at 
Main Branch Thimphu. 

 

High a. Implementation of compre-
hensive internal control and compli-
ance framework. 
 

b. BDB has (1) one compliance 
officer, who is primarily responsible 
for the RMA reporting. Qualitative 
and quantitative strengthening of 
Compliance Unit is required. Com-
pliance Officer should proactively 
engaged to implement internal con-
trol and compliance framework. 

 
c. At branch level, designate a 

compliance officer to check trans-
action as per internal control and 
compliance framework. 

 
d. Field banking is recom-

mended be automated with “tablet 
banking with digital receipts” to 
eliminate misappropriations, over  

BDB 
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a.iii. Misappropriations, over  
writing of field receipts, back 
dates errors in field receipts, 
non-updating field collections 
of fund collected by PSOs in 
various branches. 
 
a.iv. Non-identification of vari-
ous accounts receivable in 
various branches. 

 
Similarly, In FY 2017 and 2018, exter-
nal auditor reported as followings: 
 
b. In view of the various cases of 

misappropriation/ embezzlements 
and unauthorized sanctions & dis-
bursements acts involving employ-
ees of the bank, overwriting of field 
receipts, back date errors in field 
receipts, non-updating of field col-
lections of funds collected by 
PSOs in various branches, internal 
control systems and procedures of 
the bank relating to credit manage-
ment need to be strengthened. 
 

c. Internal controls of the bank relat-
ing to credit management need to 
be strengthened as on review of 
reports of internal audit depart-
ment, it was observed that there 
were many cases of embezzle-
ment/ misappropriation, unauthor-
ized sanctions &disbursements, ir-
regularities in field receipts etc 

writing of field receipts, back dates 
errors in field receipts and non-up-
dating field collections of fund col-
lected by PSOs in various 
branches. 

 
 

Internal Audit Practices:  
a. BDB conducts “normal” and 

“surprise” audit of branches or 
departments as per the annual 
audit plan. BDB is yet to imple-
ment “Risk Based Audit” ap-
proach and conduct “Infor-
mation System Audit”. 
 

b. In some instances (summa-
rized in table 17), system gen-
erated data differs from au-
dited financial statement. Infor-
mation System Audit is recom-
mended to address shortcom-
ing, if any. 
 

 

Moderate a. Implement “Risk Based Au-
dit” approach in internal audit prac-
tices. 
 
b. Conduct “Information Sys-
tem Audit” in regular interval. 

 
c. Current Internal Audit team 
may not be able to conduct “Infor-
mation System Audit”. BDB may 
need to use external agency to con-
duct Information system audit. 

BDB 
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Credit Appraisal Practices for Rural  
Portfolio: 

a. Currently, BDB relies on 
inputs from Agriculture and 
Livestock Officer for busi-
ness plan and credit ap-
praisal for rural sector fi-
nancing. These officers 
have limited banking or fi-
nancial experience and 
limited accountability to-
wards BDB. 

b. Credit officers have limited 
expertise on credit ap-
praisal of rural portfolio. 
Currently, credit officer ap-
praises ranges of credit 
applications like agricul-
ture, SMEs, livestock, tour-
ism etc, which might limit 
the ability of credit officer 
to appraise the loan file ef-
fectively. 

 
Performance of Corporate Credit 
Unit: 

a. Credit officers have limited ex-
pertise on credit appraisal of 
corporate portfolio. Currently, 
credit officer appraises ranges 
of credit applications like tour-
ism, construction, which might 
limit the ability of credit officer 
to appraise the loan file effec-
tively. 

High Credit Appraisal Practices for Ru-
ral  Portfolio: 

a. Adopt evidence based credit 

appraisal practices4 based 

on the established bench-

marks and build in-house 

technical capacity to evaluate 

technical and financial feasi-

bility of rural enterprise. 

b. Standardized credit appraisal 
practices for various agricul-
ture and livestock industry. 
Develop/train credit officer for 
certain value chains or indus-
try and assign the related file 
to respective credit officer to 
ensure the quality of appraisal 
(specialization on credit ap-
praisal). 
  
 
 
 

Performance of Corporate Credit 
Unit: 

a. Standardized credit appraisal 
practices for various indus-
tries. Develop/train credit of-
ficer for certain industry and 
assign the related file to re-
spective credit officer to en-
sure the quality of appraisal 
(specialization on credit ap-
praisal). 

BDB 

Risk Management Practices in 
Credit Portfolio: 

a. Although BDB has dedi-
cated Risk Management 
Division and well defined 
risk management manual, 
credit application is ap-
praised without inputs from 
risk management division.  
 

b. Risk management division 
has limited capacity (one 
risk officer) who is primarily 

High a. Training to the risk officer on 
prudential  risk management 
practices and procedures in 
the context of the develop-
ment financial institution. In 
addition, there is only one risk 
officer who is responsible for 
risk management practices in 
BDB. Number of the risk of-
ficer should be increased in 
proportionate to business 
growth. 
 

BDB 

 
4 Credit appraising officer should interview and understand the business as well as personal circum-

stances of the borrower to ensure proper utilization of the loan (any adverse observation should be 
factored in appraisal) and customized the repayment schedule in line with the cash flow (due to limited 
financial literacy, mismatch in repayment schedule and business cash flow may result misutilization of 
cash flow by the borrower). Post loan sanction, frequent interaction with borrower for monitoring and 
supervision are recommended.  
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responsible for regulatory 
reporting and risk analysis. 
Limited numbers of risk of-
ficers may have undermine 
the involvement of risk of-
ficer on credit appraisal 
process. 

b. Engagement of risk manage-
ment division (risk officer) in 
the credit appraisal process of 
loan application >= Nu.10 mil-
lion to proactively analyse the 
risk profile of loan proposals. 

Institutional Ability to Undertake 
Rural Enterprise Financing: 
BDB has prior experience, infrastruc-
ture and outreach to undertake rural 
enterprise financing. However, BDB 
should improve following critical as-
pects to improve its rural financing ac-
tivities:  

a. Credit appraisal practices 
b. Monitoring and supervision ca-

pacity 
c. Capacity enhancement of cli-

ents on (i) financial literacy and 
(ii) technical guidance for cli-
ents on rural enterprise man-
agement. 

 a. BDB should adopt evidence 

based credit appraisal prac-

tices based on the estab-

lished benchmarks and build 

in-house technical capacity 

to evaluate technical and fi-

nancial viability of rural enter-

prise. 

b. Currently, credit officers are 

responsible for monitoring 

and supervision of loan port-

folio which is undermining 

monitoring and supervision of 

loan portfolio due to exces-

sive burden on credit officers, 

especially in branches.  Es-

tablish and strengthen the 

monitoring and supervision 

division with adequate staffs 

to actively monitor the credit 

portfolio. 

 

c. Rural clients have limited fi-
nancial literacy and technical 
capability for enterprise man-
agement. So, along with loan, 
provide customized financial 
literacy and enterprise man-
agement trainings for rural cli-
entele.  

ADB/BDB 

Financial Burden from Community 
Centre (CC) Management: 

a. BDB is continuously losing 
money on managing CC (refer 
table 18 for details). 
 

b. External auditor in 2018 audit 
report opined ““The huge over-
head costs of CCs with minimal 
returns affects the profit of the 
Bank. Further, the penetration 
of smart phones in the rural ar-
eas has rendered many G2C 
services redundant. With the 
CC operators mostly on con-
tract, attrition rate is very high 

Moderate a. Revise the pricing structure of 

CC to be at least self-sustaina-

ble. 

b. Seek the subsidy from central 

government or any other 

agency to fill the shortfall. 

BDB 
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and complains against disrup-
tions of services from all quar-
ters is another challenge” 

 

Deposit Mix: 
a. Current and saving accounts 

have relatively low contribution 
in deposit mix (As of 31 De-
cember 2019, fixed, recurring , 
saving and current account 
constituted 70.98% 1.80%, 
25.21% and 2.01% respec-
tively), which has resulted high 
cost of deposit5. 
 

b. As on September 2019, the 
RMA reported that current and 
saving deposit constituted 
48.16% (current deposit 
20.62% and saving 27.54%) 
while fixed and recurring de-
posited constituted 51.84% 
(fixed deposit 51.83%) of bank-
ing industry deposit. 

 a. Coordinate with the Royal 

Government of Bhutan for 

Government Services Ac-

count (current account). 

b. Coordinate with the Royal 

Government of Bhutan to 

manage government em-

ployee salary account (sav-

ing account). 

c. Explore and increase busi-

ness/enterprise accounts 

(current account). 

BDB 

Non-Performing Loan: 
a. From FY 2016 to FY 2019, 

BDB’s NPL has skyrocketed 
from 12.47% to 24.48% due to 
(i) operational weakness in 
BDB and (ii) sluggish perfor-
mance of Bhutanese econ-
omy6. 
 

b. As of December 2019, con-
struction (64.9% NPL), manu-
facturing (43.7 NPL), service/ 
tourism (44.8% NPL) and 
housing sector (16.3% NPL) 
are piling huge non performing 
portfolio. . 

High a. BDB needs to act proac-

tively to manage NPL.  

Branch level NPL man-

agement task force led 

by senior officials with 

specific mandate is rec-

ommended. 

 

b. Certain segment of Bhu-

tanese economy may not 

perform in the future. So, 

prudent resources alloca-

tion according to eco-

nomic situation and 

BDB’s priorities and com-

petencies are recom-

mended. 

BDB 

 

7.   Conclusion:   Operational and financial performance of BDB are not satisfactory. Opera-

tional performance especially on (i) internal controls (ii) financial management (iii) portfolio 

monitoring and supervision and (iv) portfolio management including risk management and 

credit appraisal practices7 are not satisfactory as indicated in table 3.  

 
5 Average cost of deposit of BDB as of 31 December 2019 was 5.84%. As of December 2018, Bank of Bhutan, 
Druk PNB, Bhutan National Bank and T Bank had average cost of deposit of 3.33%, 3.99%, 5.26% and 7.36% 
respectively. 
6 GDP growth rate in FY 2016, FY 2017, FY 2018 and FY 2019 (forecast), 7.4%, 6.3%, 5.5% and 5.3% by the ADB 
7 BDB relies on inputs from Agriculture and Livestock Officer for business plan and credit appraisal. These offic-

ers have limited banking or financial experience and limited accountability towards BDB. 
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Financial performance is  also weak due to (i) poor portfolio quality resulting very high non-

performing loan (ii) eroding capital adequacy which may curtail the future business growth and 

(iii) sluggish growth rate (during the analysis period, BDB loan and deposit grew at CAGR of 

6.26% and 6.67%, whereas banking industry, on average, grew at CAGR of 17.49% and 

13.62%)8.  

 

Furthermore, executive management have limited experiences in banking which has clearly 

reflected in BDB’s operation as (i) inefficient deposit mix (70.98% and 2.01% of BDB deposit 

is fixed and current whereas industry average is 51.83% and 20.64% as of September 2019), 

(ii) unfocused credit portfolio (36 loans products) and (iii) Inefficient resource allocation (Thim-

phu main branch which is consistently underperforming consist of approximately 32% portfolio, 

(detailed in table 14).  

 

Despite of operational and financial weakness, BDB has strong outreach in rural economy 

which can be leveraged to expand future operation. In addition, identified weakness can im-

proved with structured interventions as proposed in table 3. However, cost benefit analysis of 

(i) community centre’s operation and (ii) farmers outreach banking are strongly recommended. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
8 Banking industry data as of September 2019. 
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B. Detailed Financial Due Diligence Report: 

Introduction and Overview: 

 

Project Introduction and Background9: 

 

7. Despite the recent economic growth, the Bhutanese economy is still largely rural and 
agriculture-based. Out of its total population, 62.2% live in rural areas with agriculture as its 
primary source of livelihood for most rural population. The agriculture sector contributes about 
16.52% of the total gross domestic product; but employs over 56% of the total population in 
2017. Although Bhutan's poverty ratio decreased from 23.2% in 2007 to 8.2% in 2017, a siza-
ble number of the rural population remains in poverty. The estimated 11.9% of the rural popu-
lation is below the national poverty line as compared to 0.8% in urban areas. 
 
8. Most Bhutanese farmers are subsistence small farmers with limited landholdings and 
income. In rural areas, opportunities to generate cash incomes outside of agriculture or off-
farm employment are extremely limited making farmers exclusively dependent on farming. The 
Government of Bhutan recognizes the cottage and small enterprises (CSEs) as the economy's 
driver and can positively impact employment, income generation and poverty reduction, and 
implements various policy measures to promote CSEs. CSEs constitute more than 90% of the 
total enterprises and employ about 99,288 people. However, despite the government support, 
the CSEs face various constraints including access to finance, access to infrastructure and 
market. Among these, access to finance is by far the largest constraint due to (i) weak financial 
and operational performances of the key rural finance institutions; (ii) lack of adequate prod-
ucts and limited social mobilization to reach rural CSEs; and (iii) rural financial institutions' 
limited source of funding. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

9 Project data sheet Bhutan: Diagnostic Study and Strategy Development for Rural Finance Sector Development 
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Task Performed: 

 

9.  In November 2019, ADB commissioned a consultant to undertake financial manage-

ment assessment and financial due diligence of BDB. The consultant conducted interviews 

and meetings with BDB, RMA, Ministry of Finance and other market players. The consultant 

also reviewed the primary and secondary data/resource to conduct the financial management 

assessment and financial due diligence. 

10. The consultant was assigned with the tasks detailed as under: 

 

(i) Assess BDB’s strengths and weaknesses in financial management practices 
and capacity from the perspective of (i) organizational and staff capacity, (ii) 
information management, (iii) financial management policies and practices, and 
(iv) effectiveness of financial management policies and internal controls. Iden-
tify and evaluate financial management and internal control risks. 
 

(ii) Assess BDB's  (i) financial soundness as evidenced by adequate capital, re-

serves, and asset quality; (ii) liquidity and profitability; (iii) adequate credit and 

risk management policies, operating systems, and procedures; (iv) compliance 

with prudential regulations, including exposure limits; (v) acceptable corporate 

and financial governance and management; (vi) practices including, among 

other things, transparent financial disclosure; (vii) policies and practices; (viii) 

sound business objectives and strategy and/or plan; (ix) autonomy in lending 

and pricing decisions; and (x) adequate policies, systems, and procedures to 

assess and monitor the economic, social, and environmental impact of subpro-

jects. 

 

(iii) Propose risk mitigant including management strategies and specific activities 
with appropriate timeliness and suggested responsibilities. 
 

(iv) Review BDB's capacity for the rural enterprise financing by management and 
an institutional culture, structures, capabilities, operating systems, and financial 
position that can support the sustained delivery of such services, and their po-
tential for over the medium term. 

 

(v) Conduct an operational and financial analysis of BDB and develop a financial 
projection including critical performance indicators for the next 5 years. 

 

 

11.  The due diligence report presented here is structured in line with the 5 (five) main 

focus areas as outlined above. In order to assist ADB in developing evidence-based inter-

ventions in the proposed program, the consultant has also made number of suggestions and 

recommendations. 
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Macro Overview: 

Sector Assessment: 

 

12. Financial institutions including commercial banks in Bhutan are regulated by the RMA. 

Financial Services Act 2011, Rules and Regulations for Establishment of Commercial Banks 

in Bhutan 2018, Prudential Regulation 2017 and Macro-Prudential Rules and Regulations 

2018 are the governing regulations for commercial bank. Minimum paid up capital requirement 

for commercial bank is Nu. 600 Million. 

 

Currently, there are 5 (five) banks, 1 (one) CSI bank, 3 (three) non-bank institutions and 6 (six) 

MFIs licensed and regulated by the RMA. As of September 2019, these institutions collectively 

have 1,266 access points (i) 171 branches (ii) 70 extension counters (iii) 248 ATM and (iv) 779 

POS machines, 777,304 saving accounts, 131,707 loan accounts and 90,866 insurance poli-

cies. 

 

Table 4: Key Performance Indicators of Financial Sector 10 

Particulars FY  2016  
FY 2017 

FY 2018 FY 2019* 
(September) 

Capital:     

RWCAR (minimum requirement 
12.5%, including  capital conserva-
tion buffer) 

18.99% 16.02% 15.12% 12.77% 

Core CAR  (7.5% including capital 
conservation  buffer) 

15.58% 13.31% 11.80% 10.18% 

     

Asset Quality:     

Gross NPL Ratio (NPL to total 
loans) 

6.48% 7.98% 10.43% 18.39% 

Provisions to NPL 70.79% 70.58% 68.59% 56.86% 

Single Largest Borrower (maximum 
allowable single largest borrower’s 
limit of 25%  of capital fund in case 
of  in case of individual or company 
or 30% as group company) 

15.42% 15.49% 13.56% 14.88% 

Exposure to 10 (ten) largest bor-
rower (30% of total loans including 
off balance sheet items) 

16.64% 15.20% 13.56% 12.23% 

NPL (Nu. , billion) 5.73 8.25 12.54 24.47 

Total Loan (Nu., billion) 88.41 103.33 120.24 133.08 

     

Earning     

Return on Asset  1.82% 0.67% 0.30% -1.52% 

Return on Equity  11.31% 4.80% 2.29% -12.58% 

Profit After Tax (Nu.  billion) 2.31 0.99 0.474 -2.5 

     

Liquidity:     
Loans to Deposits ratio 77.23% 77.02% 85.69% 84.43% 

Statutory Liquidity Requirement ra-
tio (minimum requirement of 20% 
banks and 10% non- banking insti-
tutions) 

29.30% 27.37% 22.24% 22.78% 

 
10 Financial Sector Performance Report of RMA 
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Note: With effect from September 2016, RMA issued new Prudential Regulations (2016), whereby the minimum 

requirement of Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) and Core capital was increased. The CAR was increased from 10% 

to 12.5% including the capital conservation buffer. 

 

Table 5: Key Operational Indictors of Banking Sector    Figurers in Nu. “Billion” 

Particulars FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 
FY 2019 (Sep-
tember) 

Deposit:         

Current and Saving Deposit 47.39 58.82 60.82  63.20 

Fixed Deposit 45.77 50.75 55.35  68.02 

Total 93.16 109.57 116.17  131.22 

Loan :         

Agriculture/Animal Husbandry 4.63 5.68 5.85  6.32 

Trade & Commerce 10.56 10.41 12.35  14.11 

Production & manufacturing 9.21 11.16 11.69  12.45 

Service/Tourism 12.51 17.26 22.19  25.67 

Housing 17.35 20.31 25.88  31.88 

Personal Loan 9.23 9.32 10.13  9.76 

Remaining 8.46 10.25 11.45  10.65 

Total 71.95 84.39 99.54  110.84 
 

Table 6: Key Performance Indicators of Commercial Banks 11 

 
11 Figures are collected from published financial statement of respective banks 

Particulars 

BDB BOB BNBL Druk PNB T Bank 

 
FY 
2017 

FY 2018 
FY 
2017 

FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2018 

Capital:                     

RWCAR (mini-
mum require-
ment 12.5%, in-
cluding  capital 
conservation 
buffer) 

 10.4
% 

 12.50%  17.40%  15.71%    22.22%  21.72%  14.35%  17.97%  12.50%  13.62% 

Core CAR  
(7.5% including 
capital conser-
vation  buffer) 

 8.86
% 

 8.02%  16.30%  14.91%  18.10%  17.79%  11.97%  13.47%  NA  NA 

Asset Quality:                     

Gross NPL Ratio 
(NPL to total 
loans) 

22.72
% 

20.73%  3.16%  2.87%  5.49%  5.62%  2.75%  1.66%  6.58%  5.48% 

Net NPL 6.81% 4.85% 0.39% 0.39% 0.35% 0.65% 0.29% 0.2% NA NA 

Total Net Loan 
(Nu., million) 

 15,97
1.25 

 16,149.4
2 

26,453.
36 

 35,513.87 
 24,751.2
4 

 27,022.30  6,418.29  8,470.28  4,858.39  6,251.63 

Earning                     

Return on Asset  
 (3.95
%) 

 1.18%  1.53%  1.94%  2.02%  1.58%  1.33%  1.53%  1.59%  1.56% 

Return on Equity 
 (33.2
7%) 

 12.52% 
  11.99
% 

 14.71%  11.05%  8.53%  13.74%  16.05%  20.95%  20.99% 
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13. Priority Sector Lending: Priority Sector Lending (PSL), initiated in December 2017 

for implementation with effect from 1 January, 2018, is an integrated platform that coordinates 

interventions from several government agencies to stimulate the cottage and small industries 

(CSI) sector as an important driver of Bhutan’s economic transformation through improved 

access to finance. The PSL guidelines organizes the CSI sector into (i) agriculture CSI (ii) non-

agriculture CSI. 

Financial institutions are mandatory required to invest 1% of total loan portfolio to agricultural 

CSI (all banks except BDB) and another 1% to non- agricultural CSI (for all banks and insur-

ance companies) at the preferential interest ceiling of 8% and 8.5% respectively. For agricul-

tural CSI, loan amount is limited to Nu. 0.5 million for individual borrower and Nu. 10 million 

for group/cooperated/company whereas for non-agricultural CSI, the amount is limited to Nu. 

10 million. All loans under PSL facility must be insured at pre-determined premium rate 12. As 

of September 2019, financial institutions have received 1,064 applications and sanctioned 480 

proposal under PSL facility amounting Nu.448.77 million13. 

14. Microfinance Institution: As of September 2019, RMA issued registration certificates 
to 6 (six) MFIs. These MFIs currently operate in all 20 Dzongkhags benefiting both the rural 
and urban clients. As of September 2019, MFIs sanctioned total loan of Nu. 816.99 million, 
outstanding loan reached Nu. 542.84 million and NPL stood at 13.69%.14 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 Livestock premium rate ranges from 3%-10%, agriculture 2.9% and non-agriculture at as per fire or industrial 
policy rate. 
13 RMA report  
14 Financial Sector Performance Report,  RMA 

Profit After Tax 
(Nu.  million) 

 (921.
17) 

 300.08  790.08  1,040.83  777.11  606.84  184.14 233.74   112.93  139.99 

Liquidity:                     

Loans to Depos-
its ratio 

 77.72
% 

 76.20%  63.53%  78.23%  89.34%  92.46%  59.85%  66.95%  85.27%  85.86% 

Statutory Liquid-
ity Requirement 
ratio (minimum 
requirement of 
20% banks and 
10% non- bank-
ing institutions) 

 22.32
% 

 25.83%  35.08%  21.32%  30.17%  20.43%  30.77%  37.45%  22.89%  20.09% 
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Regulatory Assessment: 

 

15.  Commercial Bank:  

Table 7: Major Regulatory Framework for Commercial Bank in Bhutan 

Particulars Commercial Bank 

Minimum Paid Up Capital Nu. 600 Million 

Capital Adequacy Ratio 12.5% including 2.5% CCyB 

Core Capital 7.5% including 2.5% CCyB 

Counter-Cyclical Capital Buffer (CCyB) Between zero and 2.5% of a financial institution’s risk-weighted 
assets 

Statutory Liquidity Requirement Ratio Bank: 20 percent of total liabilities excluding capital fund and 
liabilities to the RMA. 
 
Non-bank financial institutions: 10 percent of total liabilities 
excluding capital fund and liabilities to the RMA. 

Cash Reserve Ratio As required by RMA from time to time 

Minimum Leverage Ratio Bank's core capital/Tier 1 capital divided by the bank's total ex-
posure. Currently at 5% 

Single Borrower Limit 25% of capital fund in case of individual and 30% in case of 
group 

Limit on Credit to 10 (ten) largest obli-
gor 

shall not at any time, exceed 30 percent of its total loans in-
cluding off-balance sheet 

Provisions Requirement General Provision: Bank shall maintain a General Provision 
equivalent to 1 percent and 1.5 percent of the total principal 
outstanding under Standard and Watch categories respec-
tively. 
 
Substandard: 20 percent of outstanding principal; 30 percent 
for Sector with highest exposure 
 
Doubtful: 50 percent of outstanding principal, 60 percent for 
Sector with highest exposure 
 
Loss: 100 percent of outstanding principal. 
 

Minimum Lending Rate (MLR) Minimum Lending Rate (MLR) framework issued by the RMA 
from time to time 

Loan to Value Ratio Loan up to Nu. 50 Million- 70% and More than Nu. 50 million-
60% 

Loan to Income Ratio Fixed Income-Up to 100% of current fixed income 
Variable Income-Up to 70% of the average income for the past 
6 months 
 

Tenure of Directors Not exceeding 3 (three) years. Possibility of reappointment for 
another one term. 

Independent Directors 2 (two) independent directors 

Whistle Blowing Policy The regulated entities shall develop policies that protect em-
ployees who report in good faith and  
on reasonable grounds wrongdoing to the board or another 
designated function, such as the head  
of internal audit or compliance 

Risk Management Framework (a) Business unit (b) control function unit including risk man-
agement and compliance (c)Internal audit unit 

Code of Ethics The code of ethics shall apply to the board of directors, officers 
and employees of regulated entities 

Compliance Officer A financial institution may appoint an officer of appropriate sen-
iority in the management of the financial institution as a Com-
pliance Officer. 
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Institutional Overview of Bhutan Development Bank (BDB): 

Ownership and Corporate structure: 

 

16. Ownership Structure: BDB was incorporated by the Royal Charter, in January 1988, 
with assistance from the Asian Development Bank (ADB) to function as a development finan-
cial institution. BDB is registered as a company under the Companies Act 2000 and licensed 
under the Financial Institutions Act 1992 and functions as a domestic development bank with 
cheque facilities after obtaining its banking license in March, 2010. 
 
17.  Primary mandate of BDB is to provide banking services to the rural farmers. BDB pro-
vides seasonal, agriculture and business loans to the needy farmers. To cater the need of 
small farm-holders and expand access to finance at the doorstep of rural farmers, BDB has 
introduced Farmer Outreach Banking (FoB). In FoB, field officers of BDB visit the farmers for 
entire banking transactions (i) loan disbursement (ii) instalment collection (iii) deposit collection 
(iv) withdrawal at pre-determined place, date and time. BDB also runs 201 community centres 
across Bhutan where people can avail banking as well as ancillary services like phone, pho-
tocopy etc. 
 
BDB has also commenced corporate/industrial lending operations providing term finance and 
working capital for industrial and agro-based enterprises.  

Table 8: Current Shareholding and Representation in Board of Directors 

Particulars Paid Up Capital (Nu. Mil-
lion) 

Percentage Board Representa-
tion 

Promoters Shareholders 600.317 100% 5 

Royal Government of Bhutan 579.966 96.61% 5 

Bank of Bhutan 12.727 2.12% NA 

Royal Insurance Corporation 5.103 0.85% NA 

Bhutan National Bank 2.521 0.42% NA 

Independent Professional *   2 

Total 600,317 100 7 

 

18. Operational Indicators of BDB: BDB has the corporate office located at Thimphu, 3 

(three) reginal office and 35 (thirty five) branches located across Bhutan.  

 

Table 9: Operational Indicators of BDB 

S.N Description FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 

1 No. of Deposit Account 159,576     178,386     203,018  223,884 

2 Total Deposit (in Nu. million) 18,029.40 20,548.70 21,012.63 21,637.13 

3 No. of Loan Account 56,195 57,368 54,436 52,962 

4 Total Gross Loan (in Nu. million) 16,546.66 18,498.52 18,613.00 19,655.71 

5 
Average Loan Size (in Nu. mil-
lion) 0.294 0.322 0.342 

0.371 

6 No. of Female Borrowers  26,704 21,925 21,669 

7 
Total Loan to Female Borrowers 
(in Nu. million)  6,963 6,969 

7,699 

 

19. Credit Services:  BDB provides 36 (thirty-six) different credit products to wide ranges 

of clientele as of December 2019.  However, top 5 (five) credit products (i) agriculture and 

animal husbandry (26.05%)  (ii) housing loan (17.58%) (iii) general overdraft (15.46%) (iv) 
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service loan (7.33%) and (v) consumer loan (6.67%)  constituted 73.09% of total loan portfolio 

as of 31 December 2019. 

 

Table 10: Sector-wise Loan Composition of BDB 

Loan Product 

FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 

% Loan  % NPL % Loan  % NPL % Loan  % NPL 

Agriculture and animal husbandry 24.69% 

 21.99% 

26.37% 

18.38%  26.05%  20.02% 

Housing loan 16.11%  20.88% 16.73% 15.55%  17.58%  16.3% 

General Overdraft 15.37% 
 27.80% 

16.80% 
27.10%  15.46%  33.5% 

Service Loan 7.30% 29.57% 6.65% 21.19%  7.33%  33.2% 

Consumer Loan 9.81% 
3.61% 

8.16% 
4.09%  6.67%  5.1% 

Remaining  26.73%  NA 25.30%  NA  26.91% NA 

 

As per the RMA Financial Sector Performance Review Report (September 2019), banking 

sector  NPL  remained (i) 27.58% in  agriculture and animal husbandry loan (ii) 7.03% in hous-

ing loan (iii) 11.09% in service/tourism and (iv) 8.63% in personal loan. 

 

20. Major Loan Product, Tenure, Interest Rate and Eligibility: Borrower needs (i) valid Bhu-

tanese citizenship card (ii) passport size photograph and (iii) no objection certificate from rel-

evant authority or community / or valid license (for trading)  from Ministry of Economic Affairs 

to avail the credit from BDB. 

 

Table 11: Major Loan Product, Tenure, Interest Rate and Eligibility 

Sr. 
no 

Product Name Tenure  Interest 
Rate 

Maximum 
Loan Ceil-
ing 

Eligibility  (In addition to general 
documents 

1 Agriculture and ani-
mal husbandry 

Maximum 5 
years 

 10.25 % 
   To  
 
10.50% 

70% of total 
project cost 

Detailed project cost of activities to 
be carried out. Copy of invoice/quo-
tation for machinery to be purchased 
from an authorized dealer. 

Copy of Land ownership certificate. 

No objection certificate of concerned 
village. 

2 Housing loan Maximum 
20 years 

10.50% 
 To 
 
11.25% 

70% of total 
project cost 

Architectural drawing of the building 
to be constructed. 

Copy of Land ownership certificate. 

Estimated rental income for the build-
ing. 

3 General overdraft Maximum 1 
year. Re-
newal every 
year subject 
to satisfac-
tory loan 

 
12.00% 

General 
OD: 70% of 
project cost. 
Working 
capital OD: 
35% of con-
tract value 

Must hold a valid trade license ob-
tained from Ministry of Economic Af-
fairs. 
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perfor-
mance 

Detailed project costing of activities 
to be carried out (recurrent ex-
penses). 

Copy of Land ownership certifi-
cate/Insurance copy of assets to be 
mortgaged. 

4 Service loan Maximum 
20 years 

10.70% 
   To 
 
 
11.20% 
 

 

70% of total 
project cost 

Technical clearance for drawings & 
design for tourist standard hotel(in 
case of hotel) 

Copy of land ownership certificate 

Detailed project cost of activities to 
be carried out 

5 Consumer loan Maximum 5 
years  

9.5% 500,000 Latest pay slip authenticated by the 
finance officer 
 
Salary deduction letter 

6 Group Term Loan Maximum 5 
years 

10% 300,000 Group loan scheme agreement, copy 
of valid trade license, stock state-
ment/statement of accounts (if appli-
cable) 

7 Group Seasonal 
Loan 

Maximum 1 
years 

10% 300,000 Group loan scheme agreement, copy 
of valid trade license, stock state-
ment/statement of accounts (if appli-
cable) 

Interest rate in loan products ranges from 9.5% to 13.50%. 

21. Credit Process: Credit process is guided by Credit Manual 2019. 

 

Table 12:  Credit Process 

Step Branch/Region/HO Procedures 
1 Branch Office 1. Discuss/review the project proposal in the branch credit 

Committee. 

2. Recommend the proposal with proper justification along 

with the scanned copy of the documents: 

a) Detailed appraisal report. 

b) Branch manager’s recommendation. 

c) Engineer’s estimates if applicable. 

d) Copy of ownership certificate. 

e) CIB report. 

3. Project approvals from relevant agencies wherever applica-

ble. 

4.  Wait for approval. 

2 Regional Office 1. Receive the proposal from the branch office. 

2. Regional project officer shall review the project proposal. 

3. Regional project officer visit/verify the project site if re-

quired. 

4. Present to the regional credit committee for discussion. 

5. Regional credit committee shall discuss/review the project 

proposal. 
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6. If the proposal is within the regional sanctioning authority, 

the proposal shall be either accepted or rejected and the 

decision shall be conveyed to the branch office. 

7. If the proposal is beyond the regional sanctioning authority, 

the proposal shall be forwarded with proper justification to 

head office along with the scanned copy of the following 

documents: 

a) Detailed appraisal report. 

b) Regional manager’s recommendation. 

c) Engineer’s estimates if applicable. 

d) Copy of ownership certificate. 

e) CIB report. 

f) Project approvals from relevant agencies wherever 

applicable. 

8. Wait for approval. 

3 Head Office 1. Regional focal person receives the loan proposal from the 

region. 

2. Regional focal person review the proposals, get additional 

information if required from the branch and finalize the pro-

posal. 

3. Present the proposal to the relevant committee for ap-

proval. 

4. Issue sanction letter to concerned region/ branch if ap-

proved. 

5. Inform concerned region/branch in writing if declined. 

 

Following the standard process, it may take 2 (two) weeks to 3 (three) months for approval of 

a loan application.   

 

22. Credit Committee and Loan Sanctioning Authority: BDB has credit committee at 

branch level, regional level, head office (management level) and board level. Each committee 

has assigned credit sanctioning limit as detailed below15: 

Table 13: Credit Committee and Loan Sanctioning Authority 

Sr. 

no 

Committee Sanctioning Authority 

1 Board Credit Committee Above Nu. 35 million  

2 Executive Credit Committee  Above Nu. 20 million to Nu. 35 Million 

3 Head Office Credit Committee I Above Nu. 10 million to Nu. 20 Million 

4 Head Office Credit Committee II Above Nu.2.5 million to Nu.10Million  

5 Main Branch Credit Committee  Up to Nu. 10 Million 

6 Regional Credit Committee  Up to Nu. 2.5 Million 

7 Branch Credit Committee** Up to Nu. 1.5 Million 

 

All the loan except at Gewong field office with sanctioning authority of Nu.100,000/- needs to 

be discussed and approved by respective committee. 

 
15 Credit Manual 2019 of BDB 
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23.  Performance of Corporate Credit Unit: Corporate Credit Unit (Thimphu Main 

Branch) primarily deals with corporate loan (loan > Nu. 10 Million) and constitute approximately 

32% of the portfolio. However, performance of corporate credit unit has been consistently poor 

over the periods. 

Table 14: Performance of Corporate Credit Unit 

Particular FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 

Total Gross Loan 
Outstanding (in Nu. 
Million) 

16,546.66 18,498.52 18,613.00 19,655.71 

Total Gross Out-
standing Loan in 
Main Brach 

6,007.26 6,829.69 6,475.48 6,426.10 

Total NPL 12.47% 22.72% 20.72% 23.15% 

NPL at Main Branch 14.03% 27.04% 28.41% 31.81% 
 

Poor Performance of corporate credit unit can be broadly attributed to (i) high cost of fund, 

(BDB is not able to attracted best corporate client, in most of the cases, as observed by the 

bank employee, BDB is the last choice) (ii) corporate loan appraisal practices in BDB is not 

well structured and prudent and (iii) lack of dedicated relationship management practices for 

corporate client.  

24. Priority Sector Lending Portfolio: Financial institutions are mandatory required to 

invest 1% of total loan portfolio to agricultural CSI (all banks except BDB) and another 1% to 

non- agricultural CSI (for all banks and insurance companies) at the preferential interest ceiling 

of 8% and 8.5% respectively. For agricultural CSI, loan amount is limited to Nu. 0.5 million for 

individual borrower and Nu. 10 million for group/cooperated/company whereas for non-agri-

cultural CSI, the amount is limited to Nu. 10 million. 

BDB’s non- agricultural CSI loan as of 31 December 2019 stood at 1.02% which is in compli-

ance with the RMA guidelines. 

25.  Non-collateral Group Based Lending: Combined portfolio of non-collateral loan in-

creased to 1.05% of total portfolio in FY 2019 in comparison to 0.62% in FY 2017. 

Table 15: Non-collateral Group Based Lending 

Particulars Group Seasonal Loan Group Term Loan 

FY 2017     

Outstanding Loan (in Nu. million)  6.790 110.62 

Number of Accounts 111 1,536 

NPL %  12.37%  12.31% 

FY 2018     

Outstanding Loan (in Nu. million) 7.469 146.32 

Number of Accounts  130  1,455 

NPL %  7.89%  7.38% 

FY 2019     

Outstanding Loan (in Nu. million)  5.809  203.59 

Number  of Accounts 
  
95  1,609 

NPL %  12.6%  8.0% 

Non-collateralized loan is significantly low though portfolio quality is relatively better than av-

erage portfolio quality. Reasons that can be attributed for low non-collateralized loan are (i) 
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lack of dedicated and structured programs in BDB to enhance non-collateralized portfolio and 

(ii) lack of customized products and capacity enhancement programs to cater the need of rural 

clients. However, BDB can leverage its institutional legacy and outreach to build robust port-

folio on rural enterprise segment if BDB introduce structured programs to enhance rural enter-

prise portfolio through (i) dedicated window to serve non-collateralized portfolio (ii) evidence 

based credit appraisal practices16 (iii) strong monitoring and supervision mechanism and (iv) 

capacity enhancement programs for rural clients through financial literacy and enterprise man-

agement trainings. 

26. Credit Officer and Average Credit File/Credit Staff: As of December 2019, BDB has 

167 credit staffs (73 credit officers and 94 credit assistants), with an average 317 credit file per 

staff. Credit staffs are responsible for entire credit ecosystem from credit appraisal to loan 

monitoring and supervision. Due to the large numbers of loan accounts under a credit officer 

in difficult geography, monitoring and supervision of loan is compromised which may have 

contributed significantly for poor portfolio quality. 

 

27. BDB is recommended to strengthen the monitoring and supervision of portfolio either 

by (i) increasing the number of credit staffs or (ii) establishing separate unit to monitor and 

supervise loan portfolio. Appropriate number of active loan accounts per credit staff including 

monitoring and supervision activities may be 200-25017. 

 

28. Deposit Products and Composition: BDB provides (i) fixed (ii) saving (iii) recurring 

and (iv) current deposit products to corporate, retail as well as individual clientele. 

Table 16: Deposit Products and Composition 

Particular FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 

Fixed Deposit (Nu. 
million) 

11,697.46 13,967.18 15,748 15,517.84 
15,359.44 

Recurring De-
posit(Nu. million) 

152.11 198.24 232 310.55 
388.48 

Savings Depos-
its(Nu. million) 

2,281.40 3,115.95 3,800 4,590.04 
5,453.67 

Current Deposit (Nu. 
million) 

508.25 748.02 768 594.21 
435.53 

Total Deposit (Nu. 
million) 

14,639.23 18,029.40 20,548.70 21,012.63 
21,637.13 

% Fixed Deposit 79.90% 
 

77.47% 
 

76.64% 
 

73.85% 
 

70.98% 

% Recurring Deposit 1.04% 
 

1.10% 
 

1.13% 
 

1.48% 
 

1.80% 

% Savings Deposits 15.58% 
 

17.28% 
 

18.49% 
 

21.84% 
 

25.21% 

% Current Deposit 3.47% 
 

4.15% 
 

3.74% 2.83% 
 

2.01% 

*un-audited 

 
16 Credit appraising officer should interview and understand the business as well as personal circumstances of the 

borrower to ensure proper utilization of the loan (any adverse observation should be factored in appraisal) and 
customized the repayment schedule in line with the cash flow (due to limited financial literacy, mismatch in repay-
ment schedule and business cash flow may result misutilization of cash flow from borrower). Post loan sanction, 
frequent interaction with borrower for monitoring and supervision are recommended 
17 Consultant discuss with credit staffs in the branches to understand the number of files they can handle effec-
tively. With average loan size < Nu. 400,000 and difficult geography in rural Bhutan, consultant opines that 
200-250 would be appropriate numbers of credit file per credit staff including monitoring and supervision. 
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29. Weighted of current and saving deposit are gradually increasing though fixed deposit 

has dominating contribution in deposit mix. To manage high cost of fund and become compet-

itive, BDB should endeavour to increase the contribution of cost free (current deposit) or low 

cost deposit. As on September 2019, RMA reported that current and saving deposit constituted 

48.16% (current deposit 20.62% and saving 27.54%) while fixed and recurring deposited con-

stituted 51.84% (fixed deposit 51.83%) of banking industry deposit.18   

 

30. Fixed Asset Management: Coding, numbering and recording of fixed assets are 

maintained in the fixed assets register. Periodical physical verification of fixed assets, inven-

tories and stocks are conducted and discrepancies, if any, are resolved accordingly. Vehicles 

are insured as per the prevailing policy. Other fixed assets, inventories and stocks are not 

insured. 

 

31. Core Banking Software (CBS), IT and MIS: BDB uses “Finacle” CBS for banking 

transaction. It is an integrated software and used by all departments and branches through 

same CBS browser. Software is off-the-shelf and reports are customized as per the require-

ment.  Financial statement related to any product is available on a periodic basics and addi-

tional reports also can be customized as per the requirement. ICT Policy and Finacle SOP 

governs the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the data.  

 

However, in some instances, report generated from CBS differed from the audited report, 

which raised concern about the reliability of data. BDB should need to carry system audit to 

address system related discrepancies, if any.  

Table 17: Data Deviation from CBS and Audited Financial Statement 

Particular FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 

Total Gross Loan as per An-
nual Report (in Nu. million) 
(note 12/13) 

16,546.66 18,498.52 18,613.00 19,655.71 

RMA Disclosure (in Nu. mil-
lion) 

16,895.05 18836.36 18,923.73 19,921.24 

Core Banking System (in Nu. 
million) 

               
16,884.87 
 

18,836.86 18,923.25 19,920.92 

Total Deposit as per Annual 
Report(in Nu. million) 

18,029.40 20,548.70 21,012.63 
21,637.13 

Total Deposit as per CBS (in 
Nu. million) 

                   
17,478.73  
 

                   
19,688.97  
 

                   
20,085.18  
 

21,044.90 

 

32. Community Centre (CC): Government of Bhutan decided to handover the manage-

ment of CC from Bhutan Post to BDB in 2015. CC is a government endeavour to provide 

facilities to citizens. Primarily, CC provides (i) basic banking services like deposit taking, loan 

instalment (ii) paper binding and cutting (iii) printing (iv) lamination and scanning, (v) photo-

copying (vi) fax services (vii) basic computer course and internet surfing in rural commu-

nities. Currently, there are 201 CC managed by BDB where 222 junior level staffs have been 

deputed. 

 
18 RMA financial sector performance review report, September, 2019 
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Table 18: Financial Details of CC Operation19 

Particular FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 

Cost of community 
centre’s operation (in 
Nu.) 

32,314,791.00 34,705,283.00 31,898,984.00 

37,206,436.49  

Revenue generated 
from community cen-
tre’s operation (in Nu.) 

4,681,933.00 5,813,788.00 4,506,842.00 

7,164,296.75  

Operating profit/loss (in 
Nu.) 

-27,632,858.00 -28,891,495.00 -27,392,142.00 

- 30,042,139.74  

 

However, external auditor of BDB in 2018 report opined, “The huge overhead costs of CCs 

with minimal returns affects the profit of the Bank. Further, the penetration of smart phones in 

the rural areas has rendered many G2C services redundant. With the CC operators mostly on 

contract, attrition rate is very high and complains against disruptions of services from all quar-

ters is another challenge” 

 

33. Experience on Donor Funded Program: BDB has limited experience in donor funded 

programs. Details of  donor funded programs are summarized below: 

Table 19: Details of Donor Funded Programs   

Project Budget (USD) Expected Outcome 
Bio Gas Project 
 
Duration: 2011 to  2017 

Grant: 1,374,527.27 
(USD) 

4,444 bio gas plant constructed across 
20 Dzongkhags 

Haa Organic Vegetable Farming  
 
Duration: 2014 to ongoing 
 

Grant: 11,795,654.49 
(Nu) 

80 households benefited with poly tun-
nel and drip irrigation for the cultivation 
of organic vegetable  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
19 Data provided by BDB. 
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Governance Structure: 

 

34. Annual General Meeting: Financial statements and management reports of BDB are 

approved by the shareholders in the annual general meeting. 

 

The BoD is primarily responsible for policy formulation, approval of annual budget and strate-

gic guidance. In addition to the BoD, (i) audit committee (ii) credit committee and (iii) risk man-

agement committee headed by the non-executive directors are actively engaged and gov-

erned by respective terms of reference, as mandated by the RMA’s directives. Furthermore, 

executive level committee in (i) human resource (ii) risk management and (iii) credit are also 

functioning with specific mandates. 

 

35. Composition of BoD, Qualification and Experiences:   The BoD comprises 5(five) 

representatives including CEO from Royal Government of Bhutan and 2 (two) independent 

directors.  Chairperson is nominated by Ministry of Finance. BoD’s composition is detailed as 

under: 

Table 20: BoD’s Qualification and Experience20  

Name Position Representation Qualification Experience 
Mr. Lekzang Dorji Chairperson Royal Govern-

ment of Bhutan 
Masters of Pro-
fessional Ac-
countancy, 
B.com (Hons) 

Director General, 
Dept. of Macro 
Economics, Min-
istry of Finance 

Mr. Nima Wangdi Independent 
Member 

NA* B.com Former Health 
Secretary, Minis-
try of Health 

Mr. Ugyen Pen-
jore 

Member Royal Govern-
ment of Bhutan 

M.Sc.  
B.Sc  

Director General, 
DAMC, Ministry of 
Agriculture & For-
ests 

Mr. Phub Tsher-
ing 

Independent 
Member 

NA* Certificate in 
Electricity, 
DIP.EE  
INT.Tel.Reg  

Former Secretary 
General, BCCI, 
Thimphu 

Mr. Dhak Tsher-
ing 

Member Royal Govern-
ment of Bhutan 

B.Com (Hons)  
Diploma, Ac-
counts & Audit  

Director General, 
DAMC, Ministry of 
Agriculture & For-
ests 

Mr. Pema Wangdi Member Royal Govern-
ment of Bhutan 

Master’s in Busi-
ness Manage-
ment, 
B.Com (Hons)  

Chief Executive 
Officer, Rural En-
terprise Develop-
ment Corporation 

Mr. Phub Dorji Member and CEO Royal Govern-
ment of Bhutan 

Master’s Degree 
in Public Admin-
istration  
Bachelors in Arts  

CEO, Bhutan De-
velopment Bank 

*Not applicable 

Corporate Governance Rules and Regulations 2018 issued by RMA states, the board of di-

rectors shall have “a range of knowledge and experience in relevant areas including but not 

limited to business, management, corporate governance, risk management, financial analysis, 

 
20 Information on directors’ education and experience is provided by SFDB 
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financial reporting, information technology, regulations and strategic planning”. But, current 

BOD has limited exposure and experiences in banking.  

5 (Five) board meetings in FY 2018 and 6 (Six) in FY2019 were held. 

 

36. Composition of Board Level and Management Level Committee: 

Table 21: Composition of Board Level and Management Committee 

Name of Com-
mittee 

Composition No. of Meeting in FY 
2018 

No. of Meeting 
in FY 2019 

Board Risk and 
Governance 
Committee 

Member: Four Directors including 
CEO) 
Member Secretary: General Man-
ager (CPRD or Head Risk) 
 

Two: Board Risk Com-
mittee Meeting  
Four; Board Risk and 
Governance Commit-
tee Meeting  

Three: Board Risk 
and Governance 
Committee Meet-
ing  

Board Credit 
Committee  

Member: Three Directors includ-
ing CEO 
Member- Secretary: General 
Manager, Credit Department 

Nil  Nil  

Board Audit 
Committee  

Member: Three Directors includ-
ing CEO 
Member Secretary: General Man-
ager, Internal Audit 
 

Six Four  

Management 
Committee  

Chairperson: CEO 
Members: Dy. CEOs, General 
Managers (ADM/HRM, CPRD, 
Banking, Credit, ICT, Finance) 
Member Secretary: Company 
Secretary  

Nine  Six 

Asset Liability 
Committee  

Chairperson: CEO 
Members: Dy. CEO, General 
Managers (Banking, Credit, Fi-
nance) 
Member Secretary: Asst. GM, 
Treasury  

Fourteen  Ten  

Human Re-
source Commit-
tee  

Chairperson: CEO 
Members: Dy. CEOs, General 
Managers (Banking, Credit, Fi-
nance, CPRD, ICT) 
Member Secretary: GM, 
ADM/HRM 

Twenty Six Twenty  

 

37. Audit Committee: Audit committee has been formed in compliance with the RMA pru-

dential regulations.  Audit committee meets quarterly or as needed to approve annual audit 

plan or discuss on reports submitted by internal audit department and recommends manage-

ment/board as appropriate.  

 

38. Executive Management: Executive management comprises experienced profes-

sional to manage development financial institution. However, current management has limited 

experiences and expertise in the banking.   

 

39. Chief Executive Officer (CEO):  CEO is appointed from open competition. Ministry of 

Finance is responsible to appoint CEO on the recommendation of the BoD.  Remuneration, 

and other terms and conditions of the service of the CEO shall be as mentioned in the ToR. 

Tenure of appointment shall be of 3 (three) years in maximum with re-appointment clause for 
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another term subject to the decision of the BoD. However, the BoD may remove the CEO from 

his/her office at any time, in case his/her performance is unsatisfactory.  

 

Incumbent CEO re-appointed for 3 (three) years term, was initially appointed in August 2016. 

Before the appointment in BDB, he was in civil services.  

 

40. Human Resources: Human resources related activities are governed by Internal Ser-

vice Rule-2017. BDB follows a systematic recruitment and development process. Vacant and 

newly created positions are published in newspapers or other platforms and competitive re-

cruitment process is adhered to select suitable candidates. The human resource management 

committee, headed by CEO, is responsible for entire human resource management process. 

Table 22:  Number and Composition of Human Resources 

SN Service Type Number of Staffs 

Female Male Total 

1. Permanent staff 317 325 642 

2. Contract staff                4   4 

Total : 317 329 646 
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Financial Management Overview: 

41. Review of Audited Financial Statements: Gainender & Associates, Chartered Ac-

countants, New Delhi, India conducted the external audit for FY 2016, FY 2017 and FY 2018. 

Unqualified audit report for the audited periods were issued. External auditor, without qualify-

ing their opinion  draw attention to the following in FY 2018 audit report: 

a. i) Current account with Royal Monetary Authority is under reconciliation, as on 31 De-

cember 2018. An amount of Nu. 3,245,520.19 mentioned as “prior period adjustments” 

are pending for identification and reconciliation since 2016. 

ii) BFS account with Royal Monetary Authority is under reconciliation, as on 31 Decem-

ber 2019. An amount of Nu. 9,103,150 mentioned as “Any other adjustments” are pend-

ing for identification and reconciliation. 

b)      In view of the various cases of misappropriation/ Embezzlements and unauthorized 

sanctions & disbursements acts involving employees of the bank, overwriting of field 

receipts, back date errors in field receipts, non-updating of field collections of funds 

collected by PSOs in various branches, internal control systems and procedures of the 

bank relating to credit management need to be strengthened. 

The RAA has appointed Yoganandh & Ram LLP, Chartered Accountants, Chennai, India as 

an external auditor for FY 2019. 

42. Financial Reporting: The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Bhu-

tan Financial Reporting Standards (BFRS) and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). 

 

43. BDB has duly approved chart of accounts and also ensures demarcation between au-

thorization, execution and recording of the transactions. General ledgers, subsidiary ledgers 

and bank accounts are reconciled monthly. Variations on the actual and budgeted expendi-

tures are tracked on quarterly basis. Variations require prior approval from board of directors. 

 

44. In addition, for any new project, BDB maintains separate books of accounts and reg-

isters, and prepares annual financial statements comprising (i) comprehensive income state-

ment, (ii) statements of cash flow, (iii) statement of financial position, and (iv) notes to the ac-

count.  

 

45. Accounting and Finance Function:  Finance department has adequate staffs headed 

by the general manager. “Finacle” an integrated banking software is used by finance depart-

ment for financial management, preparation of financial statement and MIS generation. Cur-

rent staffs do not have adequate experience on donor funded programs or ADB’s guideline 

and procedures.  

 

46. Accrual based accounting system is followed.  Payments are made through cheque 

except petty cash. Petty cash management is guided by the office order issued in 21 May 

2014. Dual signatures with respective predefined authorities are required to operate bank ac-

counts. The cheque books and passwords are handled by the designated staffs only. Auto-

mated payroll management system is in place to manage the payroll. BDB also maintains 

contract-wise accounting records to indicate gross value of contract, and any amendments, 

variations and escalations, payments made, and undisbursed balances are recoded accord-

ingly and regular reconciliation is carried on the undisbursed items. 
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47. Routine financial management is governed by office order issued on 10 February 2010 

and 26 April 2010. BDB doesn’t have financial management policy/ bylaws/manual. 

 

48. Internal Audit: BDB has adequately staffed independent internal audit department 

headed by the general manager which reports directly to the audit committee. The audit com-

mittee approves internal audit plans and programs. The head office, branches and major cli-

ents, on sampling basis are audited at least once in a year. The audit committee reviews audit 

reports on quarterly or required basis and directs the management for corrective actions.  

 

49. BDB conducts “normal” and “surprise” audit of the branches and departments as per 

the annual audit plan. However, BDB is yet to implement “Risk Based Audit” approach and 

conduct “Information System Audit”. In addition, internal auditors do not have knowledge 

and understanding of ADB’s guidelines and procedures, including the disbursement guidelines 

and procedures. 

 

50. The Internal audit is conducted as per the internal audit manual, the RMA directives 

and Bhutanese Auditing Standards.  

 

51. Weak Internal Control Mechanism, Embezzlement and Fraud in the Branches: 

BDB has weak internal control and compliance framework. The external auditor has raised 

issues in the auditor’s report. In FY 2016, external auditor reported that internal control of the 

bank relating to credit management need to be strengthen as on review of reports of internal 

audit department. Similarly, In FY 2017 and FY 2018, external auditor reported (i) in view of 

the various cases of misappropriation/ embezzlements and unauthorized sanctions & dis-

bursements acts involving employees of the bank, overwriting of field receipts, back date er-

rors in field receipts, non-updating of field collections of funds collected by PSOs in various 

branches, internal control systems and procedures of the bank relating to credit management 

need to be strengthened (ii) Internal controls of the bank relating to credit management need 

to be strengthened as on review of reports of internal audit department, it was observed that 

there were many cases of embezzlement/ misappropriation, unauthorized sanctions &dis-

bursements, irregularities in field receipts etc. Below is the summary of embezzlement and 

fraud in BDB. 

Table 23:.Summary of Reported Embezzlement and Fraud 

Year Branch Brief Description of the Case Amount (Nu) 
Action Taken by 

the Manage-
ment/Law 

2015 
Samtse 
Branch  

Misuse of position and authority by 
bank staff. Influenced clients to in-
crease loan amount and lend a part 
of the loan for personal use. 

1,551,000.00 

Involved staff ter-
minated from ser-
vice. 

2016 
Trashing 
Branch Of-
fice  

Teller cash shortage  

818,315.00 

Involved staff ter-
minated from ser-
vice. Supervisor re-
ceived disciplinary 
action 

2016 
Punakha 
Branch Of-
fice  

Vault cash shortage, field collections 
retained with official & non-pro-
cessing of field collection. 

Nu. 2,534.80; 
Nu. 15,200 

Involved staff ter-
minated from ser-
vice 



34 | P a g e  
 

2017 
Wamrong 
Branch Of-
fice 

Misappropriation/Misuse of 11 fixed 
deposit accounts amounting to Nu.  
1,948,000 and Nu. 1,631,694.28 (ex-
cluding interest) refundable and mis-
use of saving accounts and Nu. 
1,385,408.08  

3,017,102.36 

Official under sus-
pension. Case with 
OAG. 

2017 

Lhamoiz-
ingkha 
Branch Of-
fice 

Unauthorized withdrawal from cli-
ents' saving accounts through ATM. 

61,000.00 

Involved staff ter-
minated from ser-
vice 

2017 
Gakaling 
Field Office, 
Haa 

Vault cash shortage. 

4,561,180.00 

Involved staff im-
prisoned 

2017 
Sakteng 
GFO 

Embezzlement of funds from saving 
account & misuse of client's saving 
deposits of Sakteng field office. 

650,000.00 

Involved staff ter-
minated from ser-
vice 

2017 
Panbang 
Branch Of-
fice 

Cash shortage of Panbang Branch 
Office. 2,365,618.51 

Involved staff un-
der suspension 

2018 Thimphu 

Embezzlement of funds from saving 
accounts and loan deposits of Thim-
phu Branch Office. 

188,800.00 

Involved staff ter-
minated from ser-
vice 

2018 

Thimphu 
Main 
Branch & 
Weringla 
Field Office. 

Alleged unauthorised cash with-
drawal from client's saving account. 

7,000.00 

Reinstated the ser-
vice of official (Not 
found guilty)  

2018 
Autsho 
Field Office 

Misuse of client saving accounts- 
Unauthorised withdrawals by Teller  218,210.00 

Involved staff ter-
minated from ser-
vice 

2019 
Tsirang 
Branch Of-
fice  

Misappropriation of clients' saving 
accounts. 18,200,841.55 

Staffs involved un-
der suspension  

2019 
Yadi 
Branch Of-
fice  

ATM cash shortage of Nu. 
1,770,200/- misused by ATM custo-
dian  1,770,200.00 

Staffs involved un-
der suspension. 

 

52. External Audit: An external auditor, appointed by the RAA conducts external audit 

and reports to shareholders in the AGM. The remuneration and ToR of the external auditor is 

also fixed by the RAA.  External auditor conducts its audit in accordance with Bhutanese Au-

diting Standards (BAS) and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Those standards re-

quire that external auditor comply with ethical requirements, plan and perform audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from misstatements. 

The external auditor is responsible for program or projects audit, but external auditor may not 

have sufficient knowledge and understanding of ADB’s guidelines and procedures, including 

the disbursement guidelines and procedures. BDB shall inform and update external auditor 

about ADB’s guidelines and procedures, including the disbursement guidelines and proce-

dures. 
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Risk Management Policy and Framework: 

 

53. BDB has Board Risk Committee, Executive Risk Committee and Risk Management 

Division headed by the general manager. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54. Board Risk Management Committee: Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC), 

headed by the non-executive director, meets quarterly or as required to discuss on the vari-

ous risks faced by BDB. The findings and decisions of BRMC are recommended to the BoD 

or management as required for implementation. 

 

55. Executive Risk Management Committee: Executive Risk Management Committee 

(ERMC), headed by CEO meets monthly or as required and discuss on the board range of 

issues. 8th ERMC meeting held on 23/10/2019 discussed on the following agendas: 

 

a. Region-wise NPL Comparison and branch-wise NPL  

b. Region-wise new loan sanctioned  

c. Details of term expired accounts 

d. Top 20 defaulters  

e. Top 20 borrowers 

f. Comparative income statement for previous three months 

g. Operational, reputational, liquidity risk and market risk 

h. Peer comparison of deposit interest rate 

i. Key ratio comparison 

 

56. Risk Management in Credit Services:  Risk Management Manual sets a standard-

ized procedures for credit risk mitigation as detailed below: 

Board Risk Committee 

Management Risk Committee 

General Manager Responsible for 

Risk Division 

Compliance 

Officer 

Head Risk 

Management 

Division 
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a. Compliance with policy guidelines 

b. Ensuring proper identifications of borrowers and correct appraisal 

c. Good communication during disbursement 

d. Period visit to borrowers 

e. Immediate follow up on defaults 

f. Avoid portfolio concentration 

g. Regular monitoring of loan utilization 

 

57. However, during the interview with credit officers  in the head office and branches, the 

consultant could not ascertain above mentioned best practices strictly followed mainly due to 

(i) credit officers rely on the information/recommendation provided by gup (district) livestock 

and agriculture officers to assess technical and financial viability of project as credit officers 

have limited expertise on agriculture and livestock financing, and (ii) credit officers are also 

responsible for monitoring and follow ups of loan but due to large number of credit files (two 

credit officers consultant interviewed in Punakha branch have 467 and 407 credit files) and 

geographical difficulties, regulator monitoring of loan utilization is not practiced. 
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Compliance Framework: 

 

58. Compliance Framework: BDB has prepared and implemented required policy, pro-

cedures and practices to ensure the compliance. Designated compliance officer is responsible 

to ensure the compliance related issues including reporting to the RMA. 

 

59. BDB is required to comply with various reporting and submission filings to different 

regulatory agencies as detailed under: 

 

Table 24: Reporting and Regulatory Submission Requirement  

Regulatory Agency Compliance/Filing/Submission Requirement Compliance 
Status 

Royal Monetary Au-
thority  

Monthly- Financial Performance, Loan outstanding 
amount, ten largest exposures, list of new loan sanctioned, 
Number of loan enhanced/renewed/restructured/resched-
uled, statement of off-balance sheet, capital adequacy, 
staff loans, statement of loans to Board of Directors, Re-
lated party loans, top 30 NPL loans and top 30 largest de-
positors 

Complied 

Royal Monetary Au-
thority 

Quarterly: Statement of Frauds cases, bad debts written-
off, and new products 

Complied 

Royal Monetary Au-
thority 

Yearly- list of employee terminated during the year 
 

Complied 

Royal Monetary Au-
thority 

RMA disclosure 

• Tier 1 and II capital components  

• Risk weighted assets 

• Capital adequacy ratio 

• Loans and NPL by sectoral classification 

• Loans by counter-party 

• Assets and investments 

• Foreign exchange 

• Customer complaints 
 

Complied 

Royal Monetary Au-
thority 

AML : Monthly CTR and STR report  
 

Complied 

Office of Company 
Registrar 

Yearly Report Complied 
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Financial Performance Assessment: 

Capital Adequacy: 

 

60. Minimum capital adequacy requirement for commercial bank is 12.50% including coun-

ter-cyclical capital buffer of 2.5%. Core capital requirement is 7.5 % including counter-cyclical 

capital buffer of 2.5%.  

Table 25: Capital Adequacy Ratio 

Particulars FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 

Core Capital Ade-
quacy 

13.2% 6.8% 8.86% 8.30% 

Total Capital Ade-
quacy 

16.6% 10.4% 12.5% 11.56% 

BDB capital adequacy has decreased significantly from FY 2016 primarily due to increment in 

NPL.  

Asset Quality: 

 

61. Deteriorating portfolio quality is a serious concern for BDB.  From FY 2016 to FY 2019, 

outstanding loan has grown at the rate of 6.26%.  Gross loan in FY 2016 was Nu. 16,546.66 

million which increased to Nu. 19,655.71 million in FY 2019.  Similarly, NPL has increased 

from 12.48% in FY 2016 to 23.16% in FY 2019. If the portfolio quality deteriorates in the similar 

rate, financial health of BDB may be seriously compromised in the future. 

 

 

BDB follows the provisioning standards as per the RMA prudential regulations. It begins pro-

visioning for regular loans at 1%. Table below shows the directive issued by the RMA for loan 

classification and provisioning: 
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Table 26: Loan Classification and Rate of Provisioning 21 

Loan Classification  
Days in Ar-
rears  

Rate of Provisioning (%) 

Regular  Up to 30 days 1 

Watch List 31-90 days 1.5 

Substandard  91-180 days 20%, 30 percent for sector with highest exposure 

Doubtful  181-365 days 50, 60 percent for sector with highest exposure 

Bad  
Above 365 
days 

100 

Source: RMA Prudential Regulations 2017 

Loan in highly concentrated in Thimphu main branch (32.26% of total loan outstanding) and 

Gasa branch has lowest concentration (0.34% of total loan outstanding). Top five branches 

including Thimphu main branch constituted 49.25% of total outstanding loan). 

 

Product wise Loan Concentration: BDB provides 36 (thirty-six) different credit products to 

wide range of clientele.  However, top 5 (five) credit products (i) agriculture and animal hus-

bandry (26.05%)  (ii) housing loan (17.58%) (iii) general overdraft (15.46%) (iv) service loan 

(7.33%) and (v) consumer loan (6.67%)  constituted 73.09% of total loan portfolio as of 31 

December 2019. 

 

Credit Exposure in Single Largest Borrower: As of 31 December 2019, maximum credit 

limit for single borrower is 788.46 million (30% of capital fund). Actual single largest exposure 

in the referred date amounted Nu. 190.91 million which is in compliance with the RMA regula-

tions. 

 
21 RMA Prudential Regulations 2017 
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Credit Exposure in 10 Largest Borrower: As of 31 December 2019, maximum credit limit 

for top 10 borrowers is 5,696.83 million (30% of total loan including off balance sheet items). 

Actual 10 largest exposure in the referred date amounted Nu. 1,051.82 million which is in 

compliance with the RMA regulations. 

Top 10 Sector Contributing Non-Performing Loan: As of December 2019, loan categorized 

as working capital term loan has 100% NPL, followed by invoked BG loan.  Overdraft loan 

which constitute 15.46% of total  loan portfolio also has 33.5% NPL. 

Table 27: Sector-wise Non-Performing Loan 

Sector NPL% % of Loan  in Total Portfolio 

Working Capital Term Loan 100% 0.05% 

Invoked BG Loan 83.1% 0.14% 

Construction Loan 64.9% 0.16% 

Oversea Education Loan 53.8% 1.67% 

Seasonal Loan 44.8% 1.03% 

Manufacturing/Industrial Loan 43.7% 2.16% 

Working Capital (OD) 37.00% 2.29% 

Personal Loan 33.7% 3.40% 

Overdraft Gen 33.5% 15.46% 

Service Loan 33.2% 7.33% 

 

Top 30 Non-Performing Loan: Top 30 NPL as of 31 December 2019 stood Nu. 675.92 mil-

lion against gross outstanding loan of Nu.18, 989.43 million. 

Earnings Quality:  

 

62. BDB has  delivered mixed  financial results for the period covered by this report 

Net Profit: Net profit decline to Nu. 13.47 million in FY 2019 in comparison to Nu. 297.00 

million in FY 2016, which is mainly contributed by the huge impairment cost arising due to poor 

portfolio quality. 

 

 

 

 

Net Interest Margin: Net interest margin stood at healthy 4.76% as of December 2019. 
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Operating Cost to Income Ratio: Operating cost to income ratio has improved from 71.03% 

in FY 2017 to 44.49 % in FY 2019. 

 

 

Return on Average Equity (RoAE) & Return on Average Assets (RoAA): RoAE declined 

to 7.74% in FY 2019 from 9.27% in FY 2016.  RoAA also eroded from 1.42% to 0.5% during 

the same period. Eroding RoAE and RoAA should be the serious concern for BDB. 
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Liquidity:  

63. During the analysis period, BDB has been able to manage healthy liquidity ratio. 

 

Statutory Liquidity Ratio (SLR): BDB has been able to manage healthy SLR ratio during FY 

2016 to FY 2018. SLR, during the analysis period, was 22.34%, 22.32% and 25.82% respec-

tively. 

 

Gross Loan to Deposits Ratio: Gross loan to deposit ratio was 91.78% in FY 2016, which 

decreased to 90.80% in FY 2019. 

 

Operational self-sufficiency (OSS):  OSS ratio is fluctuating throughout the analysis period. 

In FY 2016, the ratio was 1.16, which decreased to 0.72% in FY 2017. In FY 2018, due to write 

back of significant impairment charge, OSS bounced back to 1.12%. 
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Rural Finance Development Project (RRP BHU 53307) 

 

 

Financial Projections22: 

 

Assuming Capital Injection in Two Instalments ( USD 7.5 million in December 2020 and USD 7.5 million December 2023): 
Balance Sheet: 

In Nu  million 2016 2017 2018 2019 
2020 

March 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

  Audited 

Unau-
dited Projected 

Assets                     

Cash 1,147 2,058 1,034 1,132 1,116 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Balances with Central Bank 3,289 3,146 4,558 4,147 3,541 2,272 2,408 2,565 2,744 2,950 

Due from Banks 1,610 1,568 2,226 2,712 3,131 5,743 6,275 7,014 8,132 8,837 

Loans & Advances to Custom-
ers 

15,390 
16,083 16,179 16,692 16,768 16,404 17,434 18,487 19,873 21,394 

Equity Instruments at FVOCI 43 44 54 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 

Debt Instruments at Amortised 
Cost 

425 
421 436 292 285 292 292 292 292 292 

Other Assets 394 433 402 412 565 412 412 412 412 412 

Property, Plant & Equipment 293 286 254 228 226 227 227 227 227 227 

Intangible Assets 58 109 108 100 96 100 100 100 100 100 

Total Assets  22,649 24,148 25,251 25,759 25,772 26,494 28,193 30,141 32,824 35,257 

                      

Liabilities                     

Due to Banks 1,136 997 1,322 1,197 1,197 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Due to Customers 18,030 20,549 21,013 21,637 21,639 22,719 24,082 25,647 27,443 29,501 

ADB credit line for group 
based loans 

                 
          188 375 375 375 

 
22  Consultant team prepared  financial projections to assess the potential financial performance of BDB. Projections are based on historical trend and consultant 

assessment of the market. Projections do not reflect the view of BDB. 

 

http://www.adb.org/Documents/RRPs/?id=53307-001-3
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Capital Injection as Subordi-
nate Debt 

  
        563 563 563 1,125 1,125 

Retirement benefit plans 52 58 67 6 8 7 8 9 9 10 

Deferred tax liabilities   130 125 71 72 71 71 71 71 71 

Other Liabilities 87 110 103 114 222 100 100 100 100 100 

Total Liabilities 19,305 21,843 22,630 23,025 23,138 24,460 26,011 27,765 30,123 32,182 

Equity                      

Share Capital 507 507 600 600 600 600 600 600 600 600 

Retained Earnings 1,776 736 833 855 781 156 303 498 822 1,195 

Other Reserves 1,056 1,056 1,173 1,272 1,247 1,272 1,272 1,272 1,272 1,272 

Capital Injection thru' ADB 
Loan  

  
                  

AFS Reserve 5 6 15 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 

Total Equity  3,344 2,305 2,622 2,733 2,635 2,034 2,182 2,377 2,701 3,074 

                      

Total Liabilities and Equity  22,649 24,148 25,251 25,758 25,772 26,494 28,193 30,141 32,824 35,257 

 

Income Statement: 

  2016 2017 2018 2019 
2020 

March 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

In Nu Millions Audited 
Unau-
dited Projected 

                      

Interest & Similar Income 2157 1,973 2,140 2,365 594 2,187 2,192 2,393 2,565 2,777 

Interest & Similar Expense -1129 -1,348 -1,413 -1,245 -340 -1,397 -1,503 -1,469 -1,582 -1,626 

Net interest income 1028 625 727 1,120 254 790 689 924 983 1,151 

Fee and commission income 35 37 34 46 4 51 56 62 68 75 

Fee and commission ex-
penses 

  
                  

Net fee and commission in-
come 

35 
37 34 46 4 51 56 62 68 75 

Other Operating Income 12 13 31 19 3 20 22 25 27 30 

Total operating income  1075 675 792 1,185 261 862 767 1,011 1,078 1,255 
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Personnel Expenses -203 -227 -269 -295 -73 -324 -357 -393 -432 -475 

Depreciation on Property 
Plant & Equipment 

-34 
-61 -61 -53 -12 -53 -53 -53 -53 -53 

Amortization of Intangible 
Assets 

-5 
-5 -12 -13 -3 -13 -13 -13 -13 -13 

Other Operating Expenses -116 -173 -187 -183 -31 -168 -173 -178 -184 -189 

                      

Impairment (charges)/rever-
sal for loans and other losses 

-392 
-971 -23 -537 -255 -1,002 40 -95 66 8 

Total Operating Expenses -750 -1,437 -552 -1,081 -373 -1,560 -556 -732 -615 -722 

Profit Before Tax from 
Continuing Operations 

325 
-762 240 104 -112 -699 211 278 463 533 

Less : Expenditure on Com-
munity Centers 
           (net of Income Nu. 
4,506,842 ) 

-28 

-29 -27 -30             

    -791 212 74             

Income Tax Expense   130 5 53     -63 -84 -139 -160 

Profit For the year ending  297 -921 218 127 -112 -699 147 195 324 373 

 

Key assumptions: 

  2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Growth in deposits 5.00% 6.00% 6.50% 7.00% 7.50% 

RMA Reserve requirement 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 

Gross loans to deposits 86.93% 86.13% 85.35% 84.57% 83.80% 

Legacy Loan repayment Nu million 4,360 2,891 2,240 1,500 1,500 

NPL on legacy loans 47.85% 38.03% 42.06% 45.12% 52.72% 

Provisioning on legacy NPL 44.87% 67.46% 77.22% 82.69% 85.83% 

NPL on new loans 6.00% 8.00% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 

Provisioning on St/watch 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 

Provisioning on NPL new loans 15.00% 35.00% 40.00% 40.00% 40.00% 

Interest Income on average net loans 12.50% 12.00% 12.00% 12.00% 12.00% 

Interest Income on previous year due from banks 2.00% 2.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 
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Interest Income on Central Bank Deposit 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Interest expense on average funding liabilities 6.00% 6.00% 5.50% 5.50% 5.25% 

Interest on ADB credit line   5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 

Personnel expense growth 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 

Income Tax 30% 30% 30% 30% 30% 

Group Loan average size. Nu 
             
150,000  

             
150,000  

             
160,000  

             
170,000  

             
180,000  

Loan average size Nu. 
             
370,000  

             
360,000  

             
350,000  

             
350,000  

             
350,000  

Average CSI loan size Nu. 
             
239,000  

             
248,560  

             
256,017  

             
263,697  

             
271,608  

CSI outstanding loan to total outstanding loan 63% 65% 67% 69% 70% 

Women  group based lending accounts 61% 62% 63% 64% 65% 

Active women loan account/ active total loan account 40% 45% 50% 50% 50% 

Active women loan account/ active total CSI loan ac-
count 40% 45% 50% 50% 50% 

Growth rate in group lending disbursement 18% 20% 22% 23% 25% 

Credit personnel (officers and assistants) 200 250 300 330 360 

ADB Assistance - Nu million           

Capital Injection Nu. Million 563     563   

Group Loan Line-ADB Credit Line Nu. Million   188 188     

Group Loan-BDB resources Nu. Million            

USD to NU Exchange Rate 75         

 

 

Key performance indicators: 

 

Sr. no Indicators 

          

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022  FY2023 FY2024 

1 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 10.41% 10.61% 10.88% 12.87% 12.72% 

2 Portfolio at Risk (%)           

2.1 NPL (%) 37% 25% 22% 20% 19% 

2.2 NPL Loans disbursed after 1/1/2020 6.00% 8.00% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 
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3 ROAA (%) -2.67% 0.54% 0.67% 1.03% 1.10% 

4 ROAE (%) -29.31% 7.00% 8.55% 12.75% 12.93% 

  Net interest margin (NIM) 3.24% 2.64% 3.29% 3.20% 3.47% 

5 Operational Self Sufficiency 76.37% 110.23% 112.65% 121.05% 122.72% 

6 Gross Outstanding Loan (Nu million) 19,750 20,741 21,889 23,208 24,722 

7 Gross Loan Growth 4.00% 5.02% 5.54% 6.03% 6.52% 

8 Total Deposit (Nu million) 22,719 24,082 25,647 27,443 29,501 

9 Deposit Growth Rate 5.00% 6.00% 6.50% 7.00% 7.50% 

10 Outreach (active loan accounts) 
                     

53,377  
         
57,613  

         
62,540  

         
66,310  

        
70,634  

11 Women outreach (active women loan accounts) 
                     

21,351  
         
25,926  

         
31,270  

         
33,155  

        
35,317  

12 Active group based lending accounts 
                       

2,663  
           
3,196  

           
3,655  

           
4,232  

          
4,996  

13 Active women group based lending accounts 
                       

1,625  
           
1,982  

           
2,303  

           
2,708  

          
3,247  

14 
Cumulative disbursement of group based lending (Nu. mil-
lion) 

                     
399.50  

         
479.40  

         
584.87  

         
719.39  

        
899.23  

15 
Cumulative disbursement of group based lending to 
women (Nu. million) 

                     
243.70  

         
297.23  

         
368.47  

         
460.41  

        
584.50  

16 Outstanding CSI Loan including group loan in (Nu. million) 
                

12,442.26  
    
13,481.48  

    
14,665.52  

    
16,013.78  

   
17,305.29  

17 CSI active loan account including group loan 
                     

52,060  
         
54,238  

         
57,283  

         
60,728  

        
63,714  

18 CSI women loan outstanding (Nu. million) 
                  

3,110.57  
      
4,044.44  

      
5,132.93  

      
6,405.51  

     
7,787.38  

19 CSI active women loan account 
                     

20,824  
         
24,407  

         
28,642  

         
30,364  

        
31,857  
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Sensitivity Analysis: 

Elasticity of Capital Adequacy 

64. Based on the projected financial statement, capital adequacy can accommodate the 

annual growth rate of 10% in deposit (gross loans to deposit remaining same as assumed). 

Table 28: Capital Adequacy 

Description FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY2024 

Deposit grows at 10% an-
nually and gross loan to 
deposit remains constant 

10.03% 
 

9.98% 
 

10.15% 
 

11.93% 
 

11.95% 
 

Deposit grows at 15% an-
nually and gross loan to 
deposit remains constant 

9.69% 
 

9.34% 
 

9.35% 
 

10.81% 
 

10.85% 
 

 

Credit Risk: 

 

65. Portfolio quality has always been a concern for BDB. If BDB fails to maintain the qual-

ity of new low (loan issued after 1/1/2020), and NPL in new loan increase to 18% in FY 2024,  

return on equity and capital adequacy will remain as following: 

 

Table 29: Credit Risk 

 
Description FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY2024 

RoAE -29.31% 
 

6.51% 
 

5.17% 
 

8.67% 
 

7.19% 
 

Capital Ade-
quacy 
 

10.41% 
 

10.55% 
 

10.44% 
 

11.98% 
 

11.24% 
 

 

 

Interest Rate Risk: 

 

66.  BDB is exposed to interest rate movement in assets as well as liability side as detailed 

in following table. 

Table 30: Interest Rate Risk 

If NIM de-
crease to 
3% 

FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY2024 

RoAE  
-32.26% 
 

7.16% 
 

6.12% 
 

11.57% 
 

9.75% 
 

Capital Ade-
quacy 

10.19% 
 

10.38% 
 

10.45% 
 

12.32% 
 

11.88% 
 

    
 

Currency Risk:  

67. BDB only borrows or lends in local currency so, fluctuation on exchange rate of Nu. with 

any other currency will not have direct impact on BDB financial statement.  
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Key Findings and Recommended Risk Mitigation Measures: 

Risk Description Rating Risk Mitigation Measures Responsibility 

Limited Experience in Donor 
Funded Programme: 

a. As an Implementing Agency 
(IA), BDB has limited experi-
ence in donor funded program 
management, which may un-
dermine the project implemen-
tation.  

Moderate a. Capacity enhancement of 
PIU through TA. 

 
b. Trainings to PIU staffs on 

ADB’s guideline and proce-
dures for reporting, disburse-
ments and program imple-
mentation. 

ADB/BDB 

Composition of Board of Directors: 
a. Corporate Governance Rules 

and Regulations 2018 issued 
by RMA states, the board of di-
rectors shall have “a range of 
knowledge and experience in 
relevant areas including but not 
limited to business, manage-
ment, corporate governance, 
risk management, financial 
analysis, financial reporting, in-
formation technology, regula-
tions and strategic planning”.  
 

b. Current board of directors 
have limited experience in 
banking. 

Moderate a. Appropriate strategy to form 
the board of directors in com-
pliance with the RMA regula-
tions and requisite skills of 
board of directors. 

 

BDB 

Credit Review Unit (CRU):  
a. As per RMA’s 4.2.2 Prudential 

Regulations 2017, each financial 
institution shall establish a Credit 
Review Unit (CRU) as a special-
ized internal body for monitoring 
and assessing of credit expo-
sures. 

 
b. The structure and powers of the 

CRU, as well as the regular Credit 
Committee, shall be specified in 
the credit manual and procedures. 
Persons directly responsible for 
the extension of the credits and 
for maintaining relations with bor-
rowers shall not be eligible for 
participation in CRU. 

 
c. Currently, BDB doesn’t have 

CRU. 

High a. Establish CRU as per the re-
quirement of the RMA. 

BDB 

Financial Management Practices:  
 

 BDB 
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a. BDB follows Bhutanese Account-
ing Standards /Bhutan Financial 
Reporting Standards (BAS/BFRS) 
and International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS) to pre-
pare finance statement. 
 

b. BDB does not have (i) accounting 
policy or manual and (ii) financial 
management manual or proce-
dures.  

 
c. Routine financial management is 

governed by the office order is-
sued on 10 February 2010 and 26 
April 2010. In addition, BDB has 
duly approved “delegation of fi-
nancial powers” which primarily 
specify procurement authority. 

 
d. Finance department has ade-

quate staffs headed by the gen-
eral manager. But, current staffs 
do not have experience on ADB’s 
guideline and procedures. 

Moderate a. Preparation of accounting policy 
or manual in compliance with 
BAS/BFRS and IRFS 

 
b. Preparation of administrative or 

financial management manual/ 
procedures to enhance financial 
discipline are strongly recom-
mended as delegation of financial 
powers/ office order issued on re-
ferred dates may not be prudent 
and comprehensive to impart fi-
nancial discipline as referred doc-
uments do not describe detailed 
procedures. 

 
c. Capacity enhancement of ac-

count and finance staffs through 
trainings on ADB’s process and 
procedures 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADB/BDB 

Weak Internal Control Mechanism: 
In absence strong internal control and 
compliance framework, external audi-
tor has raised issues in the auditor’s 
report. In FY 2016, external auditor 
reported as following: 

a. Internal control of the bank re-
lating to credit management 
need to be strengthen as on 
review of reports of internal 
audit department, it was ob-
served that: 

 
a.i. Embezzlements amounting 
to Nu. 3,950,024 were re-
ported in 6 cases during the 
year. 
 

           a.ii. Unauthorized sanctions     
and disbursements in case of 
52 borrowers, 142 accounts at 
Main Branch Thimphu. 

 
a.iii. Misappropriations, over  
writing of field receipts, back 

High a. Implementation of compre-
hensive internal control and 
compliance framework. 

 
b. BDB has (1) one compliance 

officer, who is primarily re-
sponsible for the RMA report-
ing. Qualitative and quantita-
tive strengthening of Compli-
ance Unit is required. Compli-
ance Officer should proac-
tively engaged to implement 
internal control and compli-
ance framework. 
 

c. At branch level, designate a 
compliance officer to check 
transaction as per internal 
control and compliance 
framework. 
 

d. Field banking is recom-
mended be automated with 
“tablet banking with digital re-

BDB 
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dates errors in field receipts, 
non-updating field collections 
of fund collected by PSOs in 
various branches. 
 
a.iv. Non-identification of vari-
ous accounts receivable in 
various branches. 

 
Similarly, In FY 2017 and 2018, exter-
nal auditor reported as followings: 
 

b. In view of the various cases of 
misappropriation/ embezzle-
ments and unauthorized sanc-
tions & disbursements acts in-
volving employees of the 
bank, overwriting of field re-
ceipts, back date errors in field 
receipts, non-updating of field 
collections of funds collected 
by PSOs in various branches, 
internal control systems and 
procedures of the bank relat-
ing to credit management 
need to be strengthened. 

 
c. Internal controls of the bank 

relating to credit management 
need to be strengthened as on 
review of reports of internal 
audit department, it was ob-
served that there were many 
cases of embezzlement/ mis-
appropriation, unauthorized 
sanctions &disbursements, ir-
regularities in field receipts etc 

ceipts” to eliminate misappro-
priations, over  writing of field 
receipts, back dates errors in 
field receipts and non-updat-
ing field collections of fund 
collected by PSOs in various 
branches. 

Internal Audit Practices:  
a. BDB conducts “normal” and 

“surprise” audit of branches or 
departments as per the annual 
audit plan. BDB is yet to imple-
ment “Risk Based Audit” ap-
proach and conduct “Infor-
mation System Audit”. 

b. In some instances (summa-
rized in table 17), system gen-
erated data differs from au-
dited financial statement. Infor-

Moderate a. Implement “Risk Based Audit” 
approach in internal audit prac-
tices. 

 
b. Conduct “Information System Au-

dit” in regular interval. 

BDB 
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mation System Audit is recom-
mended to address shortcom-
ing, if any. 
 

 

Credit Appraisal Practices for Rural  
Portfolio: 

a. Currently, BDB relies on inputs 
from Agriculture and Livestock 
Officer for business plan and 
credit appraisal for rural sector 
financing. These officers have 
limited banking or financial ex-
perience and limited accounta-
bility towards BDB. 

b. Credit officers have limited ex-
pertise on credit appraisal of 
rural portfolio. Currently, credit 
officer appraises ranges of 
credit applications like agricul-
ture, SMEs, livestock, tourism 
etc, which might limit the abil-
ity of credit officer to appraise 
the loan file effectively. 

 
Performance of Corporate Credit 
Unit: 

a. Credit officers have limited ex-
pertise on credit appraisal of 
corporate portfolio. Currently, 
credit officer appraises ranges 
of credit applications like tour-
ism, construction, which might 
limit the ability of credit officer 
to appraise the loan file effec-
tively. 

High Credit Appraisal Practices for Ru-
ral  Portfolio: 

a. Adopt evidence based credit 

appraisal practices based on 

the established benchmarks 

and build in-house technical 

capacity to evaluate technical 

and financial feasibility of ru-

ral enterprise. 

b. Standardized credit appraisal 
practices for various agricul-
ture and livestock industry. 
Develop/train credit officer for 
certain value chains or indus-
try and assign the related file 
to respective credit officer to 
ensure the quality of appraisal 
(specialization on credit ap-
praisal). 
  

Performance of Corporate Credit 
Unit: 

a. Standardized credit appraisal 
practices for various indus-
tries. Develop/train credit of-
ficer for certain industry and 
assign the related file to re-
spective credit officer to en-
sure the quality of appraisal 
(specialization on credit ap-
praisal). 

BDB 

Risk Management Practices in 
Credit Portfolio: 

a. Although BDB has dedicated 
Risk Management Division 
and well defined risk manage-
ment manual, credit applica-
tion is appraised without inputs 
from risk management divi-
sion.  

 
b. Risk management division has 

limited capacity (one risk of-
ficer) who is primarily respon-
sible for regulatory reporting 

High a. Training to the risk officer on 
risk management practices 
and procedures in the context 
of the development financial 
institution. In addition, there is 
only one risk officer who is re-
sponsible for risk manage-
ment practices in BDB. Num-
ber of the risk officer should 
be increased in proportionate 
to business growth. 

b. Engagement of risk manage-
ment division (risk officer) in 
the credit appraisal process of 

BDB 
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and risk analysis. Limited 
numbers of risk officers may 
have undermine the involve-
ment of risk officer on credit 
appraisal process. 

loan application >= Nu.10 mil-
lion to proactively analyse the 
risk profile of loan proposals. 

Institutional Ability to Undertake 
Rural Enterprise Financing: 
BDB has prior experience, infrastruc-
ture and outreach to undertake rural 
enterprise financing. However, BDB 
should improve following critical as-
pects to improve its rural financing ac-
tivities:  

a. Credit appraisal practices. 
b. Monitoring and supervision ca-

pacity. 
c. Capacity enhancement of cli-

ents on (i) financial literacy and 
(ii) technical guidance for cli-
ents on rural enterprise man-
agement. 

 a. BDB should adopt evidence 

based credit appraisal prac-

tices based on the estab-

lished benchmarks and build 

in-house technical capacity 

to evaluate technical and fi-

nancial viability of rural enter-

prise. 

b. Currently, credit officers are 

responsible for monitoring 

and supervision of loan port-

folio which is undermining 

monitoring and supervision of 

loan portfolio due to exces-

sive burden on credit officers, 

especially in branches.  Es-

tablish and strengthen the 

monitoring and supervision 

division with adequate staffs 

to actively monitor the credit 

portfolio. 

 

c. Rural clients have limited fi-
nancial literacy and technical 
capability for enterprise man-
agement. So, along with loan, 
provide customized financial 
literacy and enterprise man-
agement trainings for rural cli-
entele.  

ADB/BDB 

Financial Burden from Community 
Center (CC) Management: 

a. BDB is continuously losing 
money on managing CC (refer 
table 18 for details). 
 

b. External auditor in 2018 audit 
report opined ““The huge over-
head costs of CCs with minimal 
returns affects the profit of the 
Bank. Further, the penetration 
of smart phones in the rural ar-
eas has rendered many G2C 
services redundant. With the 

Moderate a. Revise the pricing structure 

of CC to be at least self-sus-

tainable. 

b. Seek the subsidy from cen-

tral government or any other 

agency to fill the shortfall. 

BDB 
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CC operators mostly on con-
tract, attrition rate is very high 
and complains against disrup-
tions of services from all quar-
ters is another challenge”. 

 

Deposit Mix: 
a. Current and saving accounts 

have relatively low contribution 
in deposit mix (As of 31 De-
cember 2019, fixed, recurring , 
saving and current account 
constituted 70.98% 1.80%, 
25.21% and 2.01% respec-
tively), which has resulted high 
cost of deposit. 
 

b. As on September 2019, the 
RMA reported that current and 
saving deposit constituted 
48.16% (current deposit 
20.62% and saving 27.54%) 
while fixed and recurring de-
posited constituted 51.84% 
(fixed deposit 51.83%) of bank-
ing industry deposit. 

 a. Coordinate with the Royal 

Government of Bhutan for 

Government Services Ac-

count (current account). 

b. Coordinate with the Royal 

Government of Bhutan to 

manage government em-

ployee salary account (sav-

ing account). 

c. Explore and increase busi-

ness/enterprise accounts 

(current account). 

BDB 

Non-Performing Loan: 
a. From FY 2016 to FY 2019, 

BDB’s NPL has skyrocketed 
from 12.47% to 24.48% due to 
(i) operational weakness in 
BDB and (ii) sluggish perfor-
mance of Bhutanese econ-
omy23. 

b. As of December 2019, con-
struction (64.9% NPL), manu-
facturing (43.7 NPL), service/ 
tourism (44.8% NPL) and 
housing sector (16.3% NPL) 
are piling huge non performing 
portfolio. . 

High a. BDB needs to act proactively 

to manage NPL.  Branch 

level NPL management task 

force led by senior officials 

with specific mandate is rec-

ommended. 

 

b. Certain segment of Bhutan-

ese economy may not per-

form in the future. So, pru-

dent resources allocation ac-

cording to economic situation 

and BDB’s priorities and 

competencies are recom-

mended. 

BDB 

 

C. Conclusion: 

 

 
23 GDP growth rate in FY 2016, FY 2017, FY 2018 and FY 2019 (forecast), 7.4%, 6.3%, 5.5% and 5.3% by the ADB 
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Operational and financial performance of BDB are not satisfactory. Operational performance 

especially on (i) internal controls (ii) financial management (iii) portfolio monitoring and super-

vision and (iv) portfolio management including risk management and credit appraisal prac-

tices24 are not satisfactory as indicated in table 3.  

 

Financial performance is  also week due to (i) poor portfolio quality resulting very high non-

performing loan (ii) eroding capital adequacy which may curtail the future business growth and 

(iii) sluggish growth rate (during the analysis period, BDB loan and deposit grew at CAGR of 

6.26% and 6.67%, whereas banking industry, on average, grew at CAGR of 17.49% and 

13.62%)25.  

 

Furthermore, executive management have limited experiences in banking which has clearly 

reflected in BDB’s operation as (i) inefficient deposit mix (70.98% and 2.01% of BDB deposit 

is fixed and current whereas industry average is 51.83% and 20.64% as of September 2019), 

(ii) unfocused credit portfolio (36 loans products) and (iii) Inefficient resource allocation (Thim-

phu main branch which is consistently underperforming consist of approximately 32% portfolio, 

(detailed in table 14).  

 

Despite of operational and financial weakness, BDB has strong outreach in rural economy 

which can be leveraged to expand future operation. In addition, identified weakness can im-

proved with structured intervention as proposed in table 3. However, cost benefit analysis of 

(i) community centre’s operation and (ii) farmers outreach banking are strongly recommended. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
24 BDB relies on inputs from Agriculture and Livestock Officer for business plan and credit appraisal. These offic-

ers have limited banking or financial experience and limited accountability towards BDB. 
25 Banking industry data as of September 2019. 
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D. Appendics 

Annexure 1: Organization Structure 
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Annexure 2: Financial Ratio Definitions 

 

Risk Coverage Ratio     Loan Loss Reserves/Gross NPA 

Operating expense ratio  Operating expenses (less impairment)/Average gross 

loans 

Financial expense ratio    Financial expenses/Average gross loans 

Operational Self Sufficiency Operating revenue/(Financial expenses+ operating 

expenses + impairment charges) 

 


